Scrutiny Standing Panel Agenda



Safer, Cleaner, Greener Scrutiny Standing Panel Tuesday, 8th January, 2013

You are invited to attend the next meeting of **Safer, Cleaner, Greener Scrutiny Standing Panel**, which will be held at:

Committee Room 1, Civic Offices, High Street, Epping on Tuesday, 8th January, 2013 at 7.30 pm

Glen Chipp Chief Executive

Democratic Services

Officer

Adrian Hendry, Office of the Chief Executive

email: democraticservices@eppingforestdc.gov.uk Tel:

01992 564246

Members:

Councillors Mrs J Lea (Chairman), Mrs M Sartin (Vice-Chairman), K Avey, Mrs H Brady, Mrs T Cochrane, L Girling, Ms Y Knight, G Mohindra, S Murray, Mrs P Smith and P Spencer

SUBSTITUTE NOMINATION DEADLINE:

18:30

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (COUNCIL MINUTE 39 - 23.7.02)

(Assistant to the Chief Executive) To report the appointment of any substitute members for the meeting.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

(Assistant to the Chief Executive). To declare interests in any items on the agenda.

In considering whether to declare a personal or a prejudicial interest under the Code of Conduct, Overview & Scrutiny members are asked pay particular attention to paragraph 11 of the Code in addition to the more familiar requirements.

This requires the declaration of a personal and prejudicial interest in any matter before an OS Committee which relates to a decision of or action by another Committee or Sub Committee of the Council, a Joint Committee or Joint Sub Committee in which the Council is involved and of which the Councillor is also a member.

Paragraph 11 does not refer to Cabinet decisions or attendance at an OS meeting purely for the purpose of answering questions or providing information on such a matter.

4. NOTES OF THE LAST MEETING (Pages 5 - 10)

To agree the notes of the last meeting held on 30th October 2012.

5. THAMES WATER UTILITIES PRESENTATION

Representatives of Thames Water Utilities will be present at the meeting to answer questions about problems with surface water flooding in the district.

6. GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION ON ALCOHOL STRATEGY (Pages 11 - 64)

A consultation on delivering the Government's policies to cut alcohol fuelled crime and anti-social behaviour.

7. CCTV 5 YEAR ACTION PLAN - UPDATE (Pages 65 - 70)

(Director Environment and Street Scene) To consider the attached report.

RECOMMENDATION:

To note the progress on the CCTV 5 year Service Plan.

8. MINUTES OF THE GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE MEETING (Pages 71 - 74)

To note the attached set of minutes for 21 June 2012.

9. TERMS OF REFERENCE AND WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 75 - 80)

(Chairman / Lead Officer) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has agreed the Terms of Reference of this Panel and associated Work Programme. This is attached. The Panel are asked at each meeting to review both documents.

10. REPORTS TO BE MADE TO THE NEXT MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

To consider which reports (if any) are ready to be submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its next meeting.

11. FUTURE MEETINGS

To note the future meeting dates of this Panel. They are:

*12 February 2013; and 02 April 2013.

^{*}Meeting dedicated to Crime and Disorder issues.



EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL COMMITTEE MINUTES

Committee: Safer, Cleaner, Greener Scrutiny Date: Tuesday, 30 October 2012

Standing Panel

Committee Room 2, Civic Offices, Time: Place: 7.30 - 9.26 pm

High Street, Epping

Members Mrs J Lea (Chairman), Mrs M Sartin (Vice-Chairman), K Avev. Present: Mrs T Cochrane, L Girling, Ms Y Knight, G Mohindra, S Murray and

P Spencer

Other W Breare-Hall. G Waller and J M Whitehouse

Councillors:

Apologies: Mrs H Brady

J Gilbert (Director of Environment and Street Scene), J Nolan (Assistant **Officers** Present:

Director (Environment & Neighbourhoods)), C Wiggins (Safer Communities

Manager) and A Hendry (Democratic Services Officer)

Also in Supt L Collison

attendance:

16. **SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (COUNCIL MINUTE 39 - 23.7.02)**

The Panel noted there were no substitute members.

17. **DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST**

Councillor Sartin declared a non pecuniary interest in agenda item 6 on the Essex police as she was a member of the shadow police and Crime Commissioner Panel. She declared that she would remain in the meeting for the discussion of the item.

18. NOTES OF THE LAST MEETING

The notes of the 10 July 2012 meeting were agreed as a correct record.

19. **ESSEX POLICE**

The Panel welcomed Acting Chief Superintendant Luke Collison of the West Local Policing Area. The Panel noted that ACS Collison has been in charge of neighbourhood policing for the last six months and that the crime as well as the anti social behaviour figures had continued to fall. The Police were still able to respond well to the public's needs and that have a functional model of policing that works.

They were now reviewing their Policing Blueprint, looking at the investigations of crimes and at neighbourhood policing. These two policing areas will be joined to make a larger team, who would help raise our performance in the investigations of crime. Another change would be the re-joining of the two parts of the CID teams which would be based at Loughton Police Station.

The future still looked challenging with the government cuts but it was important to keep the plan moving forward and put in place future proofing against the austerity

Page 5 1 measures. They would hope to keep the officer numbers that they have at present. They will still retain the local special police constables, but the nine community officers will be reduced. With additional officers working, the public should not notice any difference. They had tough choices to make that were based on community priorities.

Police Community Support Officers (PCSO) numbers were to remain unchanged at present but are charged to a government grant for 2013/14, but this will not be ringfenced around the PCSOs only.

Councillor Spencer asked if there was policy in place for moving officers around on a regular basis. He was told that there was no such policy in place. It was important to build up relationships in the community.

Councillor Girling asked about the Neighbourhood Action Panels (NAP) and that Debden had not had a meeting for some time. Local councillors thought them important to enable them to engage with their local communities. He was assured that NAPs were key to the Police's engagement strategy. ACS Collison was not sure why a meeting had net been held, he would find out. Councillor Cochrane added that two future meetings were now listed on the website.

Councillor Girling then asked about incidents that had been reported to the 101 nonemergency number and he was now finding it difficult to get information. How did the reporting system work. He was told that the reports went to a central Command and Control Centre, where the data was gathered and logged onto their computer system. Relevant information was then given to local officers for them to action. The public can call local officers on their mobile phone or can help by keeping diaries of incidents etc. as for repeated incidents. When they get to a certain level they would put resources into these incidents and target them in a proactive way. He stated that he would look into why any background information on this was not available.

Councillor Waller the Portfolio Holder for Safer, Greener and Highways commented that the overall figures for crime in our area was encouragingly low, even though they were merged with those of Brentwood. Next year, hopefully, the figures would be only for the Epping Forest District. However, he would like to know why the detection rate figures were not as good. He was told that it had always been a challenging target for this district. Partly because a lot of the offenders do not live in this area, as we are so close to the Metropolitan Area plus the fact we have a number of tube stations to enable a quick getaway. There was also the size and geography of the district, with a lot of towns in a lot of countryside. This made it difficult to identify offenders. By bringing together the neighbourhood and the detection teams it enabled the detection rate to go up (so far by 1.5%) and will hopefully continue to rise. He wanted to harness the community sprit, to empower them to help the police. They worked closely with the Metropolitan Police as well as the British Transport Police and had started a series of joint patrols around our border regions, sharing information and intelligence. They also had links with the Hertfordshire Police, but there was not that much crime flowing across this border.

Councillor Girling asked if there were still officers working with schools. He was told that they had three officers tasked with working with schools.

Councillor Girling then asked how they informed the public about all the successful work that they undertook. ACS Collison said that they use the website, Facebook and Twitter. They also inform the local newspapers every week of their good news stories as well as using the Parish and Town Council's newsletters.

Councillor Knight was worried that Nazeing village seemed to be on its own out in the sticks, with very slow response times. Could anything be done about it? She was told that if 999 was called then it would go out to their central control room in Chelmsford who would send it to the nearest and most appropriate unit. He recognised that they had problems in the past but, they have a borderless approach nowadays to reduce their response time. Hopefully she would now see the difference.

Councillor Knight said she understood that local officers did a lot of hard work, have a massive workload and have a lot of local intelligence. Were they listened too? She was told that they were supervised by a sergeant who managed their work and co-ordinated their workload.

Councillor Jon Whitehouse asked what priorities were attached to traffic policing. He was told that they were governed by KSI statistics (Killed or Seriously Injured) and are deployed to these identified hotspots. The Traffic Police are also there to fight crime and not just for traffic offences. They also carry out a road safety educational programme across Essex.

The Chairman thanked ACS Collison for his update of the Policing Blueprint for our district.

John Gilbert representing the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) briefed the Panel on the work that they did. The Panel noted that the CSP brought together various key partner organisations with the district to deal with crime and disorder matters within the district. The partnership consists of the following organisations:

Epping Forest District Council; Essex County Council; Essex Police Service; Essex Fire and Rescue Service; NHS West Essex; Essex Probation Service; Voluntary Action Epping Forest.

The CSP produced an annual assessment of its area in February, looked at its strategy and if it had met its targets once the statistics were known. The CSP also has statutory responsibilities one of which was to do with reoffending. They had a remit to deal this as well as the Police. They also have a statutory responsibility for undertaking domestic homicide review taking place, looking at death in domestic situations. He reported that unfortunately one review was currently underway. The CSP's role was to go back to basics, talk to all organisations involved to find out why this had occurred, should things have been picked up, should things have been done differently etc. But, the CSP have to fund these reviews.

Asked if we had to look after re-offenders that lived outside the district Mr Gilbert said that if they lived outside our district, then the authorities in their area had to take responsibility for them. We were only responsible for offenders who lived in our area. We have specialist officers to help with this, which is new for us. We have only been responsible for this for the last six or seven months.

The Chairman then asked ACS Luke Collison to update the Panel on the upcoming Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) elections and matters surrounding this. The Panel noted that the elections were on 15 November and that the successful candidate would take up post on 26 November, when the current Police Authority would cease to exist. The PCC would have the power to hold the Chief Constable to

account and would be responsible for the policing budget and the Community Safety budget; a lot of money to be responsible for.

However, a Police and Crime Panel (PCP) had been established to oversee the PCC and hold him to account.

This was a significant change to the way policing was delivered across the country.

Councillor Mohindra asked that with a 100 days to set the budget, how flexible were the police in the setting of the budget if the PCC did not agree with their proposals. He was told that this was very difficult to answer as they would be in uncharted territory. However, they were working closely with the Police Authority to ensure a smooth transition.

Councillor Sartin remarked that the Police and Crime Panel had the ability to veto the budget but the PCC could ignore this. It was also pointed out that the PCC would not have operational control of the police and would not be able to dictate their operational policy.

Councillor Murray commented that he had asked 40 people about the PCC elections and 35 did not know anything about them and 5 knew about them but not who the candidates were. Caroline Wiggins remarked that there had been an advertising campaign on television and also that information leaflets had been sent out. Mr Gilbert said that local government had lobbied as hard as it could to increase public awareness of the elections. It would be interesting to see the governments reaction if the turnout was less than 20%.

Mr Gilbert added that officers were hoping to get the new PCC to come and talk to the Panel in the new year. There would be a different relationship to the PCC than we had with the Police Authority. He noted that the PCP would scrutinise the budget proposals of the PCC. Mrs Wiggins added that it would probably not be a matter of spending more but spending the existing budget differently, depending on their priorities.

The Chairman thanked ACS Collison for attending the meeting and bringing the Panel up to date on Policing matters.

20. TERMS OF REFERENCE AND WORK PROGRAMME

The Panel reviewed their Terms of Reference and their work programme.

They noted that their work programme for the year and noted that they would hope to invite the new PCC to their February 2013 meeting.

21. POLICE RESOURCE AND THE OLYMPIC GAMES

The Director of Environment and Street Scene, John Gilbert introduced the report updating the Panel on the recent Olympic Games and the police resources used. In the run up to the Games members had expressed concern that Police resources would be drawn away from the District, resulting in reduced resources and the possibility of extra crime. The Panel noted that in the event that there were no adverse effects to policing matters during the course of the Games. It proved to be a successful period, with no cause for concerns and policing matters around the District were unaffected.

RESOLVED:

The Panel noted that the Policing of the Olympic Torch Relay and the main Games were undertaken without adverse affect upon the District's policing.

22. SAFER CLEANER GREENER STRATEGY ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITIES

The Panel noted the six monthly report on the Safer Cleaner Greener enforcement activities from 1 April to 30 September 2012. They noted that:

- the stop and search could not be carried out because of the Olympic Games;
- the Taxi licensing enforcement carried out in September; and
- the details of recent prosecution/caution details.

Councillor Girling asked if there was a time restriction on the speed of response for fly-tipping incidents. He was told that officers acted as quickly as they could, where they would try and gather evidence on who was responsible and look to use CCTV to help track the offenders.

Asked if CCTV cameras could help with fly-tipping in Nazeing, Mr Gilbert said that they did not have enough CCTV cameras to cover all the fly-tipping hotspots and as for the use Automatic Number Plate Recognition cameras, they would still need evidence to say that the vehicle dumped the rubbish. The Council just did not have the resources to do this. We have also explicitly excluded the use of dummy cameras in our CCTV policy. The costs of landfill tax had gone up significantly recently contributing to the increase in fly-tipping.

Councillor Girling then asked if we liaised with retailers to make them collect their waste by trade waste companies. He was told that officers would advise them and would fine them if they did not comply.

Councillor Girling asked about taxi licensing enforcement, did we monitor the standards of the Licensing holders; and can their speed be checked. He was told that officers did not do secret shopper type checks, but the taxis are checked a couple of times a year, as part of their licensing agreement. As for speed checks, that was not in our powers do anything about. If caught by the Police then we could take the licence away if they accumulate more than 10 points on their licence.

23. DRAFT MINUTES - WASTE MANAGEMENT PARTNERSHIP BOARD

The Panel noted the draft waste management partnership board minutes for 3 September 2012.

They wanted to know where the Council was on the new waste management depot. They were told that we were no longer looking at North Weald Airfield and are currently looking at other areas to find a suitable site.

24. BOBBINGWORTH FORMER LANDFILL SITE LOCAL LIAISON GROUP - 26 SEPTEMBER 2012

The Panel noted the draft Bobbingworth Former Landfill Site Liaison Group minutes of 26 September 2012.

25. NORTH ESSEX PARKING PARTNERSHIP MINUTES - MINUTES

The Panel noted the minutes of the North Essex Parking Partnership (NEPP) Joint Committee for on Street Parking for 21 June and 12 July 2012.

Councillor Sartin asked how close were we to getting CCTV outside schools. Councillor Waller said that a decision had been made in principle to have a CCTV car and to provide the NEPP with appropriate evidence. It would be up to NEPP to decide to impose a fixed penalty. This would be happening sometime next year.

Any income generated would go back into the NEPP corporate pot to enable them to continue functioning once other grants from government have gone.

Councillor Jon Whitehouse wanted to know if they could still report highway obstructions as they used to do to the Highways office. He was told that NEPP had its own protocol on obstructions. They can only enforce this when there was a traffic order in place. If there is not one in place then the police would have to enforce.

The public would be able to find contact details for NEPP by visiting our website which would redirect them.

26. SLM CONTRACT MONITORING BOARD MINUTES OF 16 JULY 2012

The Panel noted the minutes of the SLM Contract Monitoring Board Minutes of 16 July 2012.

27. LOCAL HIGHWAYS PANEL MEETING MINUTES

The Panel noted the Local Highways Panel meeting minutes of 6 September, 18 September and 2 October 2012.

28. REPORTS TO BE MADE TO THE NEXT MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

There were no particular items to be submitted to the next Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting.

29. FUTURE MEETINGS

The dates of future meetings of the Panel were noted.

Report to Safer, Cleaner, Greener Standing Scrutiny Panel

Date of meeting: 8 January 2013

Portfolio: Safer, Greener, Highways

Subject: Home Office consultation on the

Government's policies to cut alcohol fuelled crime and anti-social behaviour

Officer contact for further information: J Gilbert

Committee Secretary: Adrian Hendry

Recommendations/Decisions Required:

(1) To note the receipt of the Home Office consultation on the Government's policies to cut alcohol fuelled crime and anti-social behaviour;

pping Forest District Council

- (2) To consider the response, if any, to be made; and
- (3) To consider whether any response should be from the Council alone or as part of an Epping Forest Safer Communities Partnership combined response

Report:

- 1. The Home Office has issued a consultation on its proposals to introduce policies to cut alcohol fuelled crime and anti-social behaviour. The consultation document is attached for the Panel's consideration.
- 2. The consultation majors on the introduction of the following approaches:
 - (a) setting a minimum unit price for alcohol;
 - (b) preventing discounted pricing of alcohol;
 - (c) reviewing the mandatory alcohol licensing conditions;
 - (d) including health in cumulative impact policies; and
 - (e) reducing red tape.
- 3. In view of the need to formulate the agenda ahead of the Christmas and New Year break, it has not been possible to provide officer suggested responses to be attached to this agenda. Officers will however circulate suggested responses, if possible ahead of the meeting, or table them on the night to assist in the Panel's considerations. Furthermore, the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) also intends to submit a partnership response, and this cannot take place until all of the partners, of which this Council is one, have indicated what their response is to be. Whilst it is accepted that a partnership/multi-agency response is normally more readily received by Government departments, that is not to say that this Council should not submit its own response as well. Any available information on the CSP responses will be made available to Members at the meeting.

Reason for decision:

To consider whether to respond to the Home Office consultation and whether that response would carry greater weight as part of the Community Safety Partnership response

Options considered and rejected:

To not respond in any capacity. This is not recommended, since alcohol fuelled crime and anti-social behaviour are issues for the Council, especially where town centres have active night time economies.

Consultation undertaken:

Community Safety Partnership

Resource implications:

Budget provision: Within Partnership and Council existing resources Personnel: Within Partnership and Council existing resources

Land: Nil

Community Plan/BVPP reference:

Relevant statutory powers:

Background papers: Home Office Consultation - attached

Environmental/Human Rights Act/Crime and Disorder Act Implications: Proposals to control alcohol fuelled crime and anti-social behaviour



A consultation on delivering the Government's policies to cut alcohol fuelled crime and anti-social behaviour

November 2012

Contents

Ministerial foreword	4
1. Introduction	6
2. About this consultation	9
3. Information about you	11
4. Confidentiality and disclaimer	13
5. A minimum unit price for alcohol	15
6. A ban on multi-buy promotions in the off-trade	20
7. Reviewing the mandatory licensing conditions	24
8. Health as a licensing objective for cumulative impact policies	27
9. Freeing up responsible businesses	30
10. Impact assessments	43
11. List of questions	45
12. Glossary	49

Ministerial foreword

The majority of the people in this country enjoy a drink without causing trouble for those around them, but there is a significant minority who do not. Too many of our high streets and town centres have become no-go areas on a Friday and Saturday night because of alcohol-fuelled violent crime and anti-social behaviour.

It is responsible drinkers, businesses and the wider community who are paying the price in terms of crime and disorder on our streets, while alcohol-related injuries are clogging up our Accident and Emergency rooms.

The Government has already legislated for a wide set of reforms to tackle binge drinking and the corrosive effect it has on individuals and our communities. We have:



- Rebalanced the Licensing Act in favour of local communities for instance by removing the 'vicinity test' to ensure that anyone – no matter where they live – can input into a decision to grant or revoke a licence;
- Introduced a late night levy empowering local authorities to make those businesses that sell alcohol late at night contribute towards the cost of policing and wider local authority action; and
- Introduced the Early Morning Alcohol Restriction Order enabling local areas to restrict the sale of alcohol late at night in all or part of their area if there are problems.

However we need to continue the work to tackle the drink fuelled antisocial behaviour and crime blighting our communities. So we are launching a 10 week consultation, seeking views on five key areas:

- A ban on multi-buy promotions in shops and off-licences to reduce excessive alcohol consumption;
- A review of the mandatory licensing conditions, to ensure that they are sufficiently targeting problems such as irresponsible promotions in pubs and clubs;
- Health as a new alcohol licensing objective for cumulative impacts so that licensing authorities can consider alcohol related health harms when managing the problems relating to the number of premises in their area;
- Cutting red tape for responsible businesses to reduce the burden of regulation on responsible businesses while maintaining the integrity of the licensing system; and,
- Minimum unit pricing, ensuring for the first time that alcohol can only be sold at a sensible and appropriate price.
 Page 16

This is not about stopping the sensible, responsible drinking which supports pubs as part of the community fabric, creates thriving town centres, and provides employment and growth. The measures in our consultation are targeted explicitly at reducing harmful drinking, and we welcome your views on how we can jointly end the culture of excessive drinking that causes so much damage to our society.

The Rt Hon Theresa May MP

Home Secretary

1. Introduction

- i. Over the last decade we have seen a culture grow where it has become increasingly acceptable to be excessively drunk in public and for people to cause nuisance and harm to themselves and others. While there has been a welcome reduction in overall consumption of alcohol over the past few years, the costs to the NHS and rising deaths from liver disease are unacceptable. The majority of people who drink do so entirely responsibly, but too many people still drink to excess. The Government has committed to taking firm action to address this.
- ii. This consultation puts forward proposals and questions on five key areas set out in the Government's Alcohol Strategy ('the Strategy'), published on 23 March 2012:
 - the price level and mechanisms for a minimum unit price for alcohol;
 - introducing a ban on multi-buy promotions in the off-trade (see glossary);
 - reviewing the mandatory licensing conditions;
 - introducing health as a licensing objective for cumulative impact; and
 - reducing the burden of regulation on responsible businesses.
- iii. In the Strategy, the Government committed to introducing a minimum unit price. However, in other areas, this consultation seeks views on the introduction of policies. Respondents are asked about introducing a ban on multi-buy promotions in the off-trade (that is premises that are only authorised to sell alcohol for consumption off the premises, such as shops and off-licences) and the introduction of health as a licensing objective for cumulative impact policies. This consultation also forms part of the review of the mandatory licensing conditions (sometimes called the Mandatory Code) in relation to the sale of alcohol. It also asks about a number of proposals to reduce burdens on responsible business and support local growth.
- iv. These topics have been brought together into one consultation to minimise the burden on respondents. A glossary (chapter 12) has been provided to assist those respondents with the more technical terms that relate to the licensing regime. To support the consultation process, a series of meetings and events will be held with representatives of our main partners. Some of these meetings will focus on more technical matters that support the policy development process.
- v. The policies in this consultation are not about stopping responsible drinking or adding unnecessary burdens on business, but are about taking fast action to tackle the health and crime harms caused by excessive alcohol consumption. The policy context of these proposals is set out in the Strategy, which should be read alongside this document, as should the impact assessments related to the individual proposals. All these documents can be found on the Home Office website, www.homeoffice.gov.uk.

Turning the tide on irresponsibly priced alcohol

- In 2010, £42.1 billion was spent on alcohol in England and Wales alone.3 Alcohol has been vi. so heavily discounted that it is now possible to buy a can of lager for as little as 20p or two litre bottle of cider for £1.69. Behaviour has also changed, with increasing numbers of people drinking excessively at home, including many who 'pre-load' before going on a night out. There has been a 45% increase in purchasing alcoholic drinks for consumption in the home, from 527ml per person per week in 1992, to 762ml in 2010.4
- vii. There is extensive and consistent evidence that increasing the price of alcohol reduces consumption, leading to reductions in alcohol-related harms particularly around health.⁵ For instance, recent analysis of the effectiveness of 'social reference pricing' in a Canadian province found that a 10% increase in the minimum price of any given alcoholic product reduced its consumption by between 14.6% and 16.1%. This supports the Government's intentions, as set out in the Strategy, to end the availability of the most irresponsibly priced alcohol, by introducing a minimum unit price, and to consult on the introduction of a ban of multi-buy promotions in the off-trade.

Tackling alcohol-related harms

- Where possible, action to tackle problem drinking should be taken locally, by those who viii. understand the problems that a particular community is facing. We have already taken significant steps to provide local communities with the powers and tools they need. A number of legislative changes came into force in April, such as reducing the evidential threshold under the Licensing Act 2003 ("the 2003 Act") from 'necessary' to 'appropriate' so that it is easier for licensing authorities to review, revoke or impose conditions on a licence to sell alcohol.
- Health considerations and agencies also have an important part to play in tackling alcoholix. related harms. The Government has already given local health bodies 'responsible authority' status under the 2003 Act, ensuring that they are automatically notified of an application for, or review, of a licence. We now propose that licensing authorities should be able to take alcohol-related health harms into account when they make decisions on cumulative impact policies (CIPs). CIPs are an existing mechanism by which licensing authorities can take into account the potential impact on the statutory licensing objectives of a significant number of licensed premises concentrated in one area. Under the 2003 Act, licensing authorities must carry out their duties with a view to promoting the statutory licensing objectives, which are:
 - the prevention of crime and disorder;
 - public safety:
 - the prevention of public nuisance; and
 - the protection of children from harm.

³ Clancy, G (2011). Consumer Trends Quarter 1 2011, No.60. Office for National Statistics.

⁴ Family Food Module of Living Costs and Food Survey (LCFS) 2010. Defra/ONS

⁵ For more information on the range of evidence on price and consumption and reduction in harms see pages 6-8 in the Minimum Unit Pricing Impact Assessment, published alongside this consultation and available on the Home Office website www.homeoffice.gov.uk.

Stockwell, T., Christopher Auld, M., Zhao, J. and Martin, J. (2012) Does minimum pricing reduce consumption? The experience of a Canadian province. (2012) Addiction. Volume 107. Pages 912-920. Page 19

x. While the Government wishes to promote local decision making, there are circumstances when national action is appropriate to support the reduction of alcohol-related harms. As part of our commitment to reviewing the current mandatory licensing conditions in relation to the supply of alcohol, this consultation also invites views on the impact of those conditions on the promotion of the statutory licensing objectives. The Government is keen to ensure that the conditions are sufficiently targeting problems such as irresponsible promotions in pubs and clubs, and to consult on whether the mandatory licensing conditions should apply to all sectors involved in the sale of alcohol, when they are relevant.

Freeing up responsible businesses

- xi. The Government is committed to removing or reducing unnecessary regulatory burdens on business, where possible, to support local growth, including those stemming from the regulation of alcohol sales, late night refreshment and regulated entertainment. Millions of people work or volunteer in sectors affected by licensing. For example over 400,000 people hold personal licences, which enable them to authorise sales of alcohol. Well-run pubs and other businesses are an important part of the fabric of neighbourhoods and provide local employment opportunities.
- xii. Reforms earlier this year have already reduced the burden of licensing regulation. For example, temporary event notices (TENs) can now be submitted within the normal deadline of ten working days, and the Government has extended the maximum period of time that a TEN can have effect, making it easier for businesses and community groups to carry out licensable activities on an occasional basis. Since 1 October, the licensing requirements for live music have been significantly reduced.
- xiii. This consultation proposes a number of ways to reduce the burden of the licensing regime further, developing a more targeted, proportionate and flexible system that can support responsible growth while maintaining its integrity to protect individuals and society from irresponsible activities. Some were raised in the recent 'Red Tape Challenge' process: simplifying the TENs regime process further, reducing the burden on businesses making minimal alcohol sales and giving local areas greater flexibility on the licensing of late night refreshment. Other proposals go further, such as removing the requirement to advertise applications for, and variations, to licences in a local newspaper. As part of this consultation, we will also be considering how these proposals could affect licensing authorities, the police and other enforcement agencies.

Page 20

⁷ The Government has consulted on proposals to deregulate entertainment licensing. The Government will publish its response to the consultation shortly.

2. About this consultation

Scope of the consultation

Impact

(IA):

assessment

Topic of this This consultation invites views on five key issues set out in the Government's Alcohol Strategy consultation: published on 23 March 2012. These are: A minimum unit price for alcohol • The price level; The mechanism for adjusting the price over time; and • The impact of a minimum unit price. A ban on multi-buy promotions in the off-trade Whether to introduce a ban on multi-buy promotions; and The impact of such a ban. Reviewing the mandatory licensing conditions Views on the current set of mandatory licensing conditions; Whether the current set of mandatory licensing conditions sufficiently targets problems such as irresponsible promotions in pubs and clubs; and • The application of the conditions to the on- and off-trade. Health as a licensing objective for cumulative impact policies Views on introducing health as a licensing objective for cumulative impact policies; and • The impact of such a licensing objective for cumulative impact policies. Freeing up responsible businesses Proposals to develop a more targeted, proportionate and flexible licensing regime that can support responsible growth while maintaining the integrity of the licensing system; and The impact of these proposals on businesses and on the licensing objectives. Scope of this The Government intends to introduce primary legislation to enable a minimum unit price consultation: for alcohol to be introduced but would like to hear views on the price level and related mechanisms. All measures in the consultation would require legislation. Geographical This consultation applies to England and Wales. We continue to work closely with devolved scope: administrations on a number of these proposals.

Nine consultation stage IAs are published alongside this consultation document.

Basic Information

Who is this consultation aimed at:	We are keen to hear from everyone who will be affected by these measures, including: members of the public who consume alcohol; those who live close to licensed premises; those who own or work in pubs, clubs, supermarkets and shops; criminal justice agencies; the police; local health bodies; licensing authorities and trade associations representing those who produce and sell alcohol.
Duration:	The consultation runs for 10 weeks until 06 February 2013
Enquiries:	alcohol.consultation@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk
How to respond:	Information on how to respond to this consultation can be found on the Home Office website at http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/about-us/consultations . Responses can be submitted online through the Home Office website or by post by sending responses to: Alcohol Consultation, Drugs and Alcohol Unit, Home Office, 4th Floor Fry Building, 2 Marsham Street, London, SW1P 4DF
Additional ways to become involved:	Please contact the Home Office (as above) if you require information in any other format, such as Braille, large font or audio. The Department is obliged to both offer, and provide on request, these formats under the Equality Act 2010. We can also offer a version of the consultation in Welsh on request.
After the consultation:	Responses will be analysed and a 'Response to Consultation' document will be published. This will explain the Government's final policy intentions. All responses will be treated as public, unless the respondent states otherwise (see p.13).

Background

Getting to	The Government published its Alcohol Strategy in March 2012. This sets out its approach to
this stage:	tackling problem drinking. This consultation considers five key areas of the Strategy.

3. Information about you

The following questions ask for some information about you. The purpose of these questions is to provide some context on your consultation responses and to enable us to assess the impact of the proposals on different groups of people. By providing this information you are giving your consent for us to process and use this information in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998.

Company Na	me or Organisation (if applicable):
Which of the from the list b	following best describes you or the professional interest you represent? Please select one box below:
	Individual involved in licensed trade/club premises
	Small or medium sized enterprise involved in licensed trade/club premises (up to 50 employees)
	Large business involved in licensed trade/club premises
	Small or medium sized enterprise involved in the production of alcohol (up to 50 employees)
	Business involved in the production of alcohol
	Trade body representing the licensed trade/club premises or alcohol producers
	Alcohol-related best practice scheme
	Person or organisation specialising in licensing law
	Voluntary and community organisation
	Licensing authority
	Licensing authority officer
If you are from	n a licensing authority please specify which licensing authority in the box below:
	Public health body (e.g. Primary Care Trust, Local Health Board, Director of Public Health)
	Local Government (other)
	Police and crime commissioner
	Police force
	Police officer
If you are from	n a police force specify which police force in the box below:
	Bodies representing public sector professionals (eg. Local Government Association, Institute of Licensing)
	Central Government
	Member of the public
	Other (specify in the box below):

If you are responding on behalf (Please specify in the box below		oup, how many members do you have?
Number of members:		
Please select one box from the	list below that best describes wh	nere you live or where your organisation is based:
North East England		
North West England		
South East England		
Yorkshire and the Humber		
West Midlands		
East Midlands		
East of England		
South West England		
London		
Wales		
Scotland		
Northern Ireland		
European Union		
Rest of the world		
If you are a member of the pul	blic:	
What is your gender? (Please select one option)	Female	
(i lease select one option)	Male	
	Prefer not to say	
What is your age? (Please tick one)	Under 18	
tick one)	18 – 24	
	25 – 34	
	35 – 54	
	55 - 64	
	65 and over	
	Prefer not to say	

4. Confidentiality and disclaimer

Responses: Confidentiality & Disclaimer

- 4.1 The information you send us may be passed to colleagues within the Home Office, the Government or related agencies. Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal information, may be subject to publication or disclosure in accordance with the access to information regimes. These are primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004.
- 4.2 If you want other information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be aware that, under the FOIA, there is a statutory Code of Practice with which public authorities must comply and which deals, among other things, with obligations of confidence.
- 4.3 In view of this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the information you have provided as confidential. If we receive a request for disclosure of the information we will take full account of your explanation, but we cannot give an assurance that confidentiality can be maintained in all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated by your IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the Department.
- 4.4 The Department will process your personal data in accordance with the DPA and in the majority of circumstances this will mean that your personal data will not be disclosed to third parties.

Please select if you would like your response or personal details to be treated as confidential
Please give your reasons in the box below:

Consultation Principles

The Government has recently introduced a more proportionate and targeted approach to consultation, so that the type and scale of engagement is proportional to the potential impacts of the proposal. The emphasis is on understanding the effects of a proposal and focusing on real engagement with key groups rather than following a set process. The key Consultation Principles are:

- departments will follow a range of timescales rather than defaulting to a 12-week period, particularly where extensive engagement has occurred before;
- departments will need to give more thought to how they engage with and consult with those who are affected;
- consultation should be 'digital by default', but other forms should be used where these are needed to reach the groups affected by a policy; and
- the principles of the Compact between Government and the voluntary and community sector will continue to be respected.

The full consultation guidance is available at:

http://www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/sites/default/files/resources/Consultation-Principles.pdf

5. A minimum unit price for alcohol

Introduction

- 5.1 In the Strategy, the Government committed to introducing a minimum unit price for alcohol in England and Wales. This consultation will contribute to the debate on the most appropriate price per unit and the mechanism by which, once set, minimum unit pricing would remain effective. It is also an opportunity for interested parties to raise other issues around minimum unit pricing.
- 5.2 Minimum unit pricing forms part of the comprehensive package of measures set out in the Strategy. The Government has already taken measures to reduce the availability of alcohol sold at irresponsible prices, for instance by changing the rules on the juice content of cider to prevent irresponsibly priced white ciders from qualifying for lower rates of duty. However, a minimum unit price for alcohol will ensure for the first time that alcohol can only be sold at a sensible and responsible price.
- 5.3 The purpose of minimum unit pricing is to reduce excessive alcohol consumption, particularly by the most hazardous and harmful drinkers who tend to show a preference for the cheapest alcohol products. Unlike moderate drinkers, they are less likely to switch to cheaper drinks, if prices rise. Crucially, evidence enables researchers to estimate in a statistically robust way (as set out in the Impact Assessment) that harmful drinkers in particular reduce their consumption more as a result of a minimum unit price set at a proportionate level than moderate drinkers.
- 5.4 As a result, we can estimate that there will be a reduction in the associated crime and health harms, especially the numbers of hospital admissions, alcohol-related deaths and alcohol-related crimes. ¹⁰ Minimum unit pricing is not intended to disproportionately affect responsible drinkers or particular social groups but to reduce the availability of alcohol sold at very low or heavily discounted prices.
- 5.5 The actual impact of minimum unit pricing will depend on the price per unit of alcohol. The Government wants to ensure that the chosen price level is targeted and proportionate, whilst achieving a significant reduction of harm. The Government is therefore consulting on the introduction of a recommended minimum unit price of 45p. The table below shows the best available estimated impacts of this level of minimum unit price. This includes an estimated reduction in consumption across all product types of 3.3%, a reduction in crime of 5,240 per year, a reduction in 24,600 alcohol-related hospital admissions and 714 fewer deaths per year after ten years.

⁸ A 'unit' of alcohol is defined as 10 ml by volume, or 8g by weight, of pure alcohol (ethanol). The number of units in a particular alcohol product will therefore depend on the volume of that product and its alcoholic strength (alcohol by volume or abv).

⁹ See the Impact Assessment on minimum unit pricing for further details.

¹⁰ See the Impact Assessment on minimum unit pricing for further details

Impacts of a 45p minimum unit price11						
Total reduction in alcohol consumption	-3.3%					
Reduction in number of crimes per year	5,240					
Crime savings per year (including QALYs12 related to crime)	£12.9m					
Number of deaths saved per year (at full effect)	714					
Number of hospital admissions saved per year (at full effect)	24,600					
Direct health care cost savings per year (at full effect)	£82.0m					
Health QALY savings per year (at full effect)	£319m					
Increase in spending for moderate drinkers (per year)	£7					
Increase in spending for hazardous drinkers (per year)	£49					
Increase in spending for harmful drinkers (per year)	£118					
Increase in revenue to business (in year 1)	£1,040m					
Impact on the public purse (as a result of a loss in alcohol duty)	-£200m					

- 5.6 As the above table demonstrates, there are other issues to consider alongside the benefits of minimum unit pricing. As the level of minimum unit price rises, it affects moderate drinkers' consumption more and so is less targeted. Further, the expected reduction in alcohol consumption following the introduction of a minimum unit price would also reduce the amount of alcohol duty received by the Government, with consequences for the public purse. For further detail please see the impact assessment published alongside this consultation on the Home Office website.
- 5.7 In June 2012, following consultation, the Scottish Government passed legislation which would enable it to introduce a minimum unit price for alcohol in Scotland. It is intended that the minimum price will be set at 50p per unit of alcohol. The Northern Ireland Executive has also consulted on whether to introduce a minimum unit price for alcohol. The Government continues to monitor developments and progress in these areas and will consider any issues arising alongside the consultation.

¹¹ Please note that these figures are figures are subject to change in the Government's final impact assessment, and following this public consultation.

¹² Gains in health-related quality adjusted life years (QALYs) show the increase in the number of life years in good health as a result of reductions in mortality and morbidity from people-related conditions.

Consultation

5.8 The Government wants to ensure that the chosen minimum unit price level is targeted and proportionate, whilst achieving a significant reduction of harm.

Consultation Question 1:					
Do you agree that this MUP lo	evel w	ould achieve these aims? (Pleas	se sel	ect one option):	
Yes		No		Don't Know	
If you think another level would (keeping your views to a maxim		eferable, please set out your views 200 words).	on w	hy this might be in the box below	
Consultation Question 2					
Should other factors or evide select one option):	nce be	e considered when setting a mir	nimun	n unit price for alcohol? (Please	
Yes		No		Don't Know	
If yes, then please specify these	e in the	e box below (keeping your views to	o a ma	aximum of 200 words).	
		Page 29			

5.9 The Government wishes to maintain the effectiveness of minimum unit pricing and is therefore proposing to adjust the minimum unit price level over time.

Consultation Question 3:					
How do you think the level of minimum unit price set by the Government should be adjusted over time? (Please select one option):					
Do nothing – the minimum unit price s	should not be adjusted.				
The minimum unit price should be autwith inflation each year.	comatically updated in line				
The minimum unit price should be rev	iewed after a set period.				
Don't know.					
Consultation Question 4: The aim of minimum unit pricing is to reduce the consumption of harmful ¹³ and hazardous ¹⁴ drinkers, while minimising the impact on responsible ¹⁵ drinkers. Do you think that there are any other people, organisations or groups that could be particularly affected by a minimum unit price for alcohol? (Please select one option):					
Yes	No		Don't Know		
If Yes please specify in the box below	(keeping your views to a m	aximum of 1	00 words).		

¹³ Harmful drinking is defined as when a person regularly drinks more than double the weekly equivalent of the NHS daily guidelines, that is more than 50 units weekly for men or more than 35 units weekly for women.

¹⁴ Hazardous drinking is defined as when a person regularly drinks over the NHS daily guidelines (equivalent to 21 units weekly for men and 14 units weekly for women), but less than double the guidelines.

¹⁵ Responsible (or moderate) drinkers are those who do not regularly exceed the daily guidelines (men should not regularly drink more than three to four units of alcohol per day and women should not regularly drink more than two to three units per day).

6. A ban on multi-buy promotions in the off-trade

Introduction

- 6.1 The Government is consulting on introducing a ban on multi-buy promotions in the off-trade (see glossary) as part of its wider strategy to reduce excessive alcohol consumption, and alongside the introduction of a minimum unit price. A ban on multi-buy promotions would therefore not apply to pubs, clubs, bars or restaurants.
- 6.2 The term multi-buy promotions refers to alcohol promotions that offer a discount for buying multiple items.
- 6.3 Multi-buy offers are popular with alcoholic-drink retailers. Research suggests that they increase sales and assist with retaining or increasing customer numbers. A report by the Institute of Alcohol Studies suggests that supermarket promotions, and discounts on alcohol, increase sales by 20-25% and that 83% of customers who purchase alcohol on promotion will return for a second purchase. However, the Government is concerned that these promotions contribute to the availability of irresponsibly priced alcohol, particularly through promotions which encourage large volumes of alcohol to be purchased.
- 6.4 The aim of a ban would be to stop promotions that encourage people to buy more than they otherwise would, making it cheaper (per item) to purchase more than one of a product than to purchase a single item. The proposed treatment of different types of promotions is set out in the table below.

¹⁶ Jack Law, Chief Executive of Alcohol Focus Scotland, 'Supermarket promotions and discounts on alcohol increase sales by 25%' in Alcohol Alert, Institute of Alcohol Studies, 2006, issue 1

Types of promotions that would NOT Types of promotions that WOULD be banned be banned This is where the price of a single product in a multi-A ban would not affect discounts which are not pack is sold for less than the price of buying that linked to the purchase of multiple bottles, or which same product on its own. This will stop incentivising are linked to the volume rather than the number of purchases of more products than people would products. It would not stop retailers cutting the price otherwise buy. of individual items to match multipack prices, or prevent them from having a minimum-buy rule. half price offers two for the price of one three for the price of two 'a third off' offers £x off any individual item buy-one-get-one-free buy six get 20% off 24 cans of lager costing less than 24 times the cost of Cutting the price of a single can of lager so that it is as one can of lager in the shop cheap as the cans in the multipack A case of wine sold cheaper than the individual price at A case of wine can be priced at any level if the items are which the same bottles are sold in the shop not available to buy individually Three for £10 where each bottle costs more than £3.33 Three for £10 as long as you can also buy each individual item in the multi-pack for £3.33 Different multipack prices or multi-buy multipack offers. Different prices for the same alcohol products sold For example, 10 bottles of alcopops being sold for in differed sized containers, where there is a per unit less per bottle than a package of four bottles, or three difference. For example, a box of wine can still be sold packages of 10 bottles being sold for less than three for less than the price of four bottles of the same wine. times the price of one 10 bottle pack.

- 6.5 A ban on multi-buy discounts would not include deals which are not linked to the purchase of multiple items. A ban would not stop retailers discounting individual items (such as 'was $\mathfrak{L}10$, now $\mathfrak{L}6$ '), or prevent them from requiring their consumers to purchase a minimum quantity.
- 6.6 As well as being part of a wider strategy to reduce consumption and tackle irresponsible alcohol sales, a ban on multi-buy promotions would also contribute to the Government's aim of encouraging people to be aware of how much they drink and the risks of excessive drinking, so that they can make informed choices. The aim of this consultation is to assess support for such a ban and contribute to our understanding of the impact a ban on multi-buy promotions may have.

Consultation Question 5:					
Do you think there should be a ban on multi-buy promotions involving alcohol in the off-trade? (Please select one option):					
Yes		No		Don't Know	
Consultation Question 6:					
Are there any further offers wh (Please select one option):	ich s	hould be included in a ban on n	nulti-b	ouy promotions?	
Yes		No		Don't Know	
If yes, please specify in the box b	pelow	(keeping your views to a maximu	m of 1	00 words).	
Consultation Question 7: Should other factors or eviden (Please select one option):	ce b	e considered when considering	a ban	on multi-buy promotions?	
Yes		No		Don't Know	
If yes, please specify in the box b	pelow	(keeping your views to a maximu	m of 2	200 words).	

Consultation Question 8:					
The aim of a ban on multi-buy promotions is to stop promotions that encourage people to buy more than they otherwise would, helping people to be aware of how much they drink, and to tackle irresponsible alcohol sales. Do you think that there are any other groups that could be particularly affected by a ban on multi-buy promotions? (Please select one option):					
Yes	No		Don't Know		
If yes please specify in the box below (keeping your views to a maximum of 100 words).					

7. Reviewing the mandatory licensing conditions

Introduction

- 7.1 Wherever possible, action to tackle alcohol-related harm and crime and disorder should be taken at a local level by those who understand the problems that their community is facing. However, at times, action is needed to achieve universal and radical change across the country and tackle underlying issues. In its response to the 'Rebalancing the Licensing Act' consultation in 2010, the Government committed to review the impact of the current mandatory licensing conditions. More recently, the Strategy made a commitment to review these mandatory licensing conditions to ensure they are sufficiently targeting problems such as irresponsible promotions in pubs and clubs. The Government has also committed to consult on whether these mandatory licensing conditions should, where relevant, apply to both the on- and off-trade (see glossary). This consultation forms part of that review, and will contribute to the Government's understanding of how these mandatory conditions are perceived.
- 7.2 Under the 2003 Act, the Secretary of State can prescribe up to nine mandatory licensing conditions in regulations. These are sometimes called the Mandatory Code. In 2010, the "Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010" introduced four mandatory conditions that apply to all on-trade premises only and one mandatory condition which applies to both the on- and off-trade (this is the requirement to have an age verification policy, see below). A mandatory licensing condition may only be introduced by the Secretary of State if it is considered appropriate to do so for the promotion of the licensing objectives (see glossary).
- 7.3 The five mandatory licensing conditions currently set out in regulations in relation to the supply of alcohol are:
 - i. A ban on irresponsible promotions. 17
 - ii. A ban on dispensing alcohol by one person directly into the mouth of another.
 - iii. A requirement to provide free tap water on request to customers.
 - iv. A requirement to have an age verification policy to prevent the sale of alcohol to persons under 18 years of age.¹⁸
 - v. A requirement to make available to customers small measures such as half pints of beer or cider or 125ml glasses of wine.¹⁹
- 17 An irresponsible promotion is any one of the following activities (summarised below) or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purposes of encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises in a manner which carries a significant risk of leading or contributing to crime and disorder, prejudice to public safety, public nuisance, or harm to children: -
 - 1. Games or other activities that require an individual to drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit or to drink as much alcohol as possible.
 - 2. Provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol for free or for a fixed or discounted fee.
 - 3. Provision of anything as a prize to encourage or reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less.
 - 4. Provision of free or discounted alcohol dependent on the outcome of a race, competition or other event, or the likelihood of anything occurring or not occurring.
 - 5. Selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers which condone, encourage or glamorise anti-social behaviour or refer to the effects of drunkenness in a favourable manner.
- 18 As described earlier, this is the only condition that applies to the off-trade as well as the on-trade. The sale of alcohol to anyone aged under 18 is an offence under section 146 of the Licensing Act 2003. This mandatory condition is intended to ensure that all premises have a policy designed to prevent sales to those aged under 18.
- 19 As with the provision of free tap water, this condition is intended to help customers manage their alcohol consumption, thereby reducing the risk of alcohol-related crime and disorder of the problems related to the licensing objectives.

Consultation Question 9:						
Do you think each of the mandatory licensing conditions is effective in promoting the licensing objectives (crime prevention / public safety / public nuisance / prevention of harm to children - see glossary)?						
Pleas	e state Yes / No / Don't know i	n each box:				
		Prevention of crime and disorder	Public safety	Prevention of public nuisance	Protection of harm from children	
A.	Irresponsible promotions (see condition i above)					
B.	Dispensing alcohol directly into the mouth (see condition ii above)					
C.	Mandatory provision of free tap water (see condition iii above)					
D.	Age verification policy (see condition iv above)					
E.	Mandatory provision of small measures (see condition v above)					

7.4 Chapter 6 of this consultation invites views on whether or not to introduce a ban on multibuy promotions in the off-trade. While the Government does not intend to apply any such ban to the on-trade, it has committed to reviewing whether the current mandatory licensing conditions sufficiently target problems such as irresponsible promotions in pubs and clubs.

Consultation Question 10:		
Do you think that the mandatory lie and clubs? (Please select one opti		arget irresponsible promotions in pubs
Yes	No	Don't Know
If no, please state what more could be	e done in the box below (keeping yo	our views to a maximum of 100 words).

Consultation Question 11	l:					
Are there other issues related to the licensing objectives (prevention of crime and disorder / public safety / prevention of public nuisance / protection of children from harm - see glossary) which could be tackled through a mandatory licensing condition? (Please select one option):						
Yes		No		Don't Know		
If yes, please specify in the box below (keeping your views to a maximum of 200 words).						
Consultation Question 12	2:					
Do you think the current appro	oach,	with five mandatory licensing c s appropriate? (Please select or		ions applying to the on-trade and tion):		
Yes		No		Don't Know		
If no, please explain why you this views to a maximum of 100 work		e current approach is not the best	appro	each in the box below (keeping your		

8. Health as a licensing objective for cumulative impact policies

Introduction

- 8.1 We want to ensure that licensing authorities are able to take alcohol-related health harms into consideration when making decisions about cumulative impact policies (CIPs) which can be used to manage problems linked to the density of premises in specific areas. We consider that a new health-related objective for alcohol licensing related specifically to cumulative impact is the best way to achieve this.
- 8.2 Evidence shows that there is a relationship between the increased density of premises and alcohol consumption and also between density and harm.²⁰ The evidence suggests that limiting the density of premises can be an effective tool in reducing harm (see section B and Annex A of the relevant impact assessment published alongside this consultation on the Home Office website www.homeoffice.gov.uk). At the moment local areas can only take data linked to existing licensing objectives (that is usually crime and disorder, and public safety) into account when making decisions about cumulative impact and so cannot fully consider the full range of alcohol-related harms in their area (such as data on liver disease or alcohol-related deaths).
- 8.3 Cumulative impact can be considered by licensing authorities when developing their statements of licensing policy. A CIP can be introduced and included in this policy on the basis of any one or more of the four existing licensing objectives when problems are linked to the impact of a significant number of licensed premises concentrated in a specific area. The current process for CIPs is set out in paragraphs 13.19 13.38 of the amended guidance issued under section 182 of the 2003 Act. The guidance can be found on the Home Office website: www.homeoffice.gov.uk.
- 8.4 A CIP introduces a rebuttable presumption that all new licence applications and variations in that area will normally be refused if the licensing authority receives a relevant representation stating that the application will add to the cumulative impact. However each application must still be considered on its own merits and the licensing authority may still grant the application if it is satisfied that the application will not contribute to the cumulative impact.

Consultation

8.5 We are proposing that licensing authorities will be able to take evidence of alcohol-related health harm into account in deciding whether to introduce a CIP and the extent of that CIP. This would be a discretionary power and not an obligation. We expect that those areas with the highest levels of alcohol-related health harm, or fast rising levels of harm from alcohol, will be most likely to use this power. It will allow local health bodies to fully contribute to local decision making and mean licensing authorities can restrict the number of licensed premises in the local area on the basis of robust local evidence.

²⁰ For example the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence guidance Alcohol use disorders: Preventing the development of hazardous and harmful drinking (June 2010) and its junderlying evidence review.

8.6 CIPs are already being used successfully by many licensing authorities to promote the existing licensing objectives. Unlike evidence currently used to support the introduction of CIPs, such as data on crime and disorder incidents, health evidence is population based (for example linked to a broader area rather than individual streets), and consideration needs to be given to how this could be incorporated within the CIP process. We want to learn from the experiences of interested parties and explore how health information could best be used in developing such polices to enable local health harms to be reduced. We will be seeking, gathering and using additional input from licensing authorities, those with experience of health data, and other practitioners on the technical details of this proposal through individual meetings and technical consultation groups.

Consultation Question 13:				
	cohol-related health harm could be f it were possible for a CIP to inclu			
Please specify in the box below, ke	eeping your views to a maximum of 2	200 wc	ords.	
Consultation Question 14:				
	current cumulative impact policy alcohol-related health harms? (Plea			0
Yes [No		Don't Know	
If yes, please specify which aspect	ts in the box below, keeping your view	ws to a	a maximum of 200 words.	

Consultation Question 15:
What impact do you think allowing consideration of data on alcohol-related health harms when introducing a cumulative impact policy would have if it were used in your local area? Please specify in the box below, keeping your views to a maximum of 200 words. Please provide evidence to support your response.

9. Freeing up responsible businesses

9.1 The Government has committed to consult on giving licensing authorities greater freedom to take decisions that reflect the needs of their local community. Following the Government's Red Tape Challenge in 2011, three areas of reform were specified: alcohol licensing for certain types of premises providing minimal alcohol sales, temporary event notices (TENs) and the licensing of late night refreshment. This chapter asks for views on these proposals and suggests further ways to reduce burdens on business. The proposals set out here can be considered alongside work undertaken by the Department for Culture, Media and Sport to remove unnecessary red tape from regulated entertainment.²¹

Ancillary sales of alcohol

- 9.2 For many businesses, the sale of alcohol is only a small part of, or incidental to, their wider activities, and occurs alongside the provision of another product or service (which this document refers to as an "ancillary sale"). For example, a guesthouse might wish to provide wine to its guests with an evening meal or a complimentary bottle of wine in a guest's room, while a hairdresser might wish to offer clients a glass of wine. In law, providing alcohol so that it is part of a wider contract such as this is likely to constitute a sale and therefore require a licence. Therefore such businesses are currently subject to the same licensing process as a large bar or off-licence and often may not find it worthwhile to obtain a licence for the low level of alcohol likely to be sold. For instance, these types of premises currently need to hold a premises licence and would need to have at least one personal licence holder working at the premises to authorise sales of alcohol.
- 9.3 The Government believes that there is scope to develop options to reduce some licensing burdens on such "ancillary sellers" while ensuring that irresponsible businesses cannot take advantage of loopholes and that the police and other enforcement agencies are able to enforce the law effectively.
- 9.4 In considering such proposals for deregulation, a key question will be the definition of an "ancillary sale". Here, striking the right balance between reducing burdens and ensuring that appropriate safeguards remain will be key. This consultation sets out two mechanisms to achieve this, which may not be mutually exclusive.
- 9.5 The first option (see Question 16 A) is to define ancillary sellers by reference to specific types of businesses and the kinds of sales they make, such as those examples of guesthouses or hairdressers given above in paragraph 9.2. Some specific types of businesses on which we are seeking views on including can be found in Question 17, with further suggestions invited in Question 18. This proposal would have the effect of excluding other types of businesses where sales of alcohol might still be incidental to the main business, but the risk of creating loopholes might be seen by some as higher.

²¹ The Government has consulted on proposals to deregulate entertainment licensing. The Government will publish its response to the consultation shortly.

- 9.6 The second option (see Question 16 B) is to broaden the definition of "ancillary sales" to include all businesses (and/or not for profit activities²²) through the use of a general set of qualification criteria, for example, to the effect that:
 - alcohol must be sold or supplied as a small part or proportion of a sales transaction or contract for a wider service; and
 - the amount of alcohol that could be supplied as part of that contract cannot exceed a prescribed amount.

These qualification criteria have the potential to significantly widen the types of businesses included. For example, this could include the kinds of sales that could be made where there are regular events in businesses such a book shop where an alcoholic drink is included as part of entry to a book signing event, or at a tourist attraction, such as a tour of a vineyard or distillery, where a glass of wine or whisky is included in the ticket price.

9.7 As an "ancillary seller" under either option, a premises or business would be restricted to making only those agreed limited sales of alcohol. So, for example, if a bed and breakfast wish to give guests a glass of wine as a "welcome drink" that would meet the definition of an ancillary sale, but if the business was supplying an unlimited amount through a bar, minibar or room service, it could not fit the definition of an "ancillary sale". We will be exploring further as part of the technical consultation what reasonable limits could apply.

Consultation Question 16:

Should special provision to reduce the burdens on ancillary sellers be limited to specific types of business, and/or be available to all types of business providing they meet certain qualification criteria for limited or incidental sales? (Please select one option in each row):

		Yes	No	Don't know
А	The provision should be limited to a specific list of certain types of business and the kinds of sales they make (see paragraph 9.5).			
В	The provision should be available to all businesses providing they meet certain qualification criteria to be an ancillary seller (see paragraph 9.6).			
С	The provision should be available to both a specific list of premises and more widely to organisations meeting the prescribed definition of an ancillary seller, that is, both options A and B.			

Consultation Question 17:						
	If special provision to reduce licensing burdens on ancillary sellers were to include a list of certain types of business, do you think it should apply to the following? (Please select one option in each row):					
		Yes	No	Don't know		
А	Accommodation providers, providing alcohol alongside accommodation as part of the contract.					
В	Hair and beauty salons, providing alcohol alongside a hair or beauty treatment.					
С	Florists, providing alcohol alongside the purchase of flowers.					
D	Cultural organisations, such as theatres, cinemas and museums, providing alcohol alongside cultural events as part of the entry ticket.					
Е	Regular charitable events, providing alcohol as part of the wider occasion. ²³					
Do you without	have any suggestions for other impacting adversely on one or ions in the box below, keeping	r more of the licensing of	objectives (see glossary			

²³ It should be considered that, for businesses that wish to sell alcohol on an occasional basis, the use of a Temporary Event Notice (TEN) is likely to remain a preferable option. Paragraph 9.13 describes changes we have already made to make TENs more flexible, and makes further proposals.

Consultation Question 19:					
The aim of a new 'ancillary seller' stonly a small part of their business a minimising loopholes for irresponsit paragraphs 9.2 and 9.3). Do you this aim? (Please select one option):	nd occurs alongside the provision of the objection of the objection and maintaining the objection and maintaining the objection and occurs and maintaining the objection and occurs and occurs and occurs and occurs and occurs and occurs along the occurs and occurs along the occur	f a wider product or service, while effectiveness of enforcement (see			
Yes	No	Don't Know			
If no, please describe the changes you 200 words).	u would make in the box below (keepin	g your views to a maximum of			

9.8 The Government is consulting on two basic approaches which could be used to reduce the burden on premises where they have been given the status of an ancillary seller.

Option A - Removing the need for a personal licence holder

- 9.9 The first option would be to reduce the requirements and costs associated with a premises licence by enabling ancillary sellers to apply to remove the requirement that all premises have at least one member of staff acting as a Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) and for that person to be a personal licence holder (PLH). In most cases, this requirement is necessary to ensure that a qualified person is authorising sales of alcohol and that premises are fully complying with the law.
- 9.10 However, the 2003 Act already recognises that this requirement (which means a member of staff possessing an accredited PLH qualification and meeting the cost of the personal licence fee on top of the premises licence fee) can be overly onerous and disproportionate in some cases, such as for community premises (e.g. village halls). The 2003 Act therefore currently allows community premises to apply to their licensing authority for an exemption from this requirement and we are considering broadening this to also exempt ancillary sellers. As for community premises, it would be expected that an ancillary seller would apply for this exemption at the same time as making an application for a premises licence, with no extra fee or process necessary.

Option B - Removing the need for a premises licence

- 9.11 A more radical option would be the possible introduction of a new form of lighter-touch authorisation under the 2003 Act, available only to those given the status of an ancillary seller. This could be referred to as an "ancillary sales notice" (ASN) and would remove the need for a premises licence at those premises. The process of obtaining an ASN would be quicker, simpler and cheaper than for a premises licence to reflect the limited form of alcohol sales that would be taking place. It could potentially work in a similar way to a TEN. The applicant could send a notice (accompanied by a fee that will cover the licensing authority's costs) stating that they believe themselves to be an ancillary seller, given the nature of their business. The police or the environmental health authority could object. There would be no need to advertise publicly and no annual fee. Unlike a TEN however, the authorisation (and the power to object) would be ongoing (but with a defined maximum duration such as five years).
- 9.12 When considering this proposal it would be important to strike the right balance between ensuring that the ASN process is a simplified process, and ensuring that appropriate safeguards still apply to those premises with an ASN as they do to other premises. For example, criminal offences would still apply to ASN holders and the licensing authority should be able to refuse (or revoke) an ASN that is inappropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. We are asking whether the requirement for sales of alcohol to be authorised by a personal licence holder should still apply to alcohol sold under an ASN.

Consultation Question 20:							
Do you think that these proposals would significantly reduce the burdens on ancillary sellers? (Please select one option in each row):							
		Yes	No	Don't know			
Α	Allow premises making ancillary sales to request in their premises licence application that the requirement for a personal licence holder be removed.						
В	Introduce a new, light-touch form of authorisation for premises making ancillary sales - an 'ASN' but retain the need for a personal licence holder.						
С	Introduce a new, light touch form of authorisation for premises making ancillary sales – an ASN - with no requirement for a personal licence holder.						

Consultation Question 21:						
Do you think that the following proposals would impact adversely on one or more of the licensing objectives (see glossary)? (Please select one option in each row):						
		Yes	No	Don't know		
A	Allow premises making ancillary sales to request in their premises licence application that the requirement for a personal licence holder be removed.					
В	Introduce a new, light-touch form of authorisation for premises making ancillary sales an – 'ASN' but retain the need for a personal licence holder.					
С	Introduce a new, light touch form of authorisation for premises making ancillary sales – an ASN – with no requirement for a personal licence holder.					
Consultation Question 22: What other issues or options do you think should be considered when taking forward proposals for a lighter touch authorisation? (Please specify in the box below, keeping your views to a maximum of 200 words)?						

Occasional provision of licensable activities at community events

9.13 Those who wish to provide licensable activities (for example selling alcohol or providing late night refreshment) on an occasional basis must obtain an authorisation under the 2003 Act. They will ordinarily obtain a TEN (see glossary). The Government has already given more local flexibility over TENs. For example, since April 2012, environmental health authorities are able to make objections. For those issuing TENs, the process has also been made more flexible, for example by enabling licensing authorities to accept TENs received after the ten-day deadline and extending the maximum duration of a TEN. We are considering now whether there is scope to be more radical and allow individual licensing authorities to determine their own, less burdensome, TEN processes if they wish.

- 9.14 It is proposed that licensing authorities should be able to enable holders of community events to notify them of their intention to provide licensable activities through a mechanism set out locally by the licensing authority (such as an email or a letter) instead of applying for a TEN through the usual process. This could mean, for example, that community groups could notify their licensing authority of all their upcoming events involving licensable activities for a certain period (such as a year).
- 9.15 There may be a concern among licensing authorities and local police that such a process could create loopholes or make processes more bureaucratic locally. However the intention is that the decision as to whether to introduce a local approach would be entirely discretionary for licensing authorities. As a safeguard, it is proposed that the current TEN process under the 2003 Act should continue to be available alongside any local approach in all licensing authority areas to ensure that a consistent process remains available, including for members of other EU states. This would ensure that the TEN process continues to comply with the European Services Directive.

Consultation Question 23: Do you agree that licensing authorities should have the power to allow organisers of community events							
involving licensable activities to notify them through a locally determined notification process? (Please select one option):							
Yes		No		Don't know			
Consultation Question 24:							
What im	pact do you think a locally d (Please select one option in		ould have (on organisers	of community		
What im	pact do you think a locally d		ould have o	on organisers	of community Don't know		
What im	pact do you think a locally d	each row): Yes		on organisers			

An extension of the TEN limit at individual premises

- 9.16 There is currently a limit of 12 TENs per year at individual premises. Following recent reforms of the TEN system, additional safeguards to the TEN process now exist in that the environmental health authority can object to TENs as well as the police, and both bodies can object on the grounds of any of the four licensing objectives (rather than only on the prevention of crime and disorder). Furthermore, where a TEN is given in relation to licensed premises, licensing authorities can now impose the same conditions on the TEN which apply to the premises' licence or club premises certificate.
- 9.17 Given these safeguards it is proposed that the number of TENs which can be given in respect of individual premises should be increased. We propose increasing the number of TENs which can be given from 12 to either 15 (an increase of 25%) or 18 (an increase of 50%).

Consultation Question 25:						
Should the number of TENs which can be given in respect of individual premises be increased? (Please select one option):						
Yes		No		Don't know		
Consultation Question	26:					
If yes, please select one o	ption to	indicate which you would pro	efer:			
15						
18						
Don't know						

Late night refreshment

- 9.18 Late night refreshment is the provision of hot food and drink to the public after 11pm and before 5am. It requires a licence because of the problems that can occur, for instance outside late night takeaways. The police and other agencies greatly value the safeguards licensing provides, such as the ability to impose conditions on these premises.
- 9.19 While we believe that the ability to regulate late night refreshment should continue, there is scope to reduce the burdens of licensing requirements for businesses that provide late night refreshment but do not sell alcohol and are not associated with the alcohol-related late night economy.
- 9.20 The Government is consulting on two proposals, which are not mutually exclusive.
 - The first proposal is to introduce local discretion on whether late night refreshment should be licensable. This could be done in two ways. Licensing authorities could be given powers to determine that premises providing late night refreshment (and no other licensable activities) should be exempt from the requirement to have an authorisation under the 2003 Act in certain parts of their area. Alternatively, licensing authorities could exempt certain types of premises in their area.
 - The second proposal is to add new centrally prescribed exemptions to those in schedule 2 of the 2003 Act, similar to those that already apply to the provision of late night refreshment to which access is limited (such as workplace canteens or private clubs) and other exemptions such as hot-drink vending machines and the provision of late night refreshment by a charity.²⁴ We propose a further exemption for motorway service areas (MSAs) as we believe that they are not part of the wider night time economy, and indeed could be considered as totally separate because the late night refreshment they provide is not linked to alcohol consumption.

Consul	Consultation Question 27:						
	Do you think that licensing authorities should have local discretion around late night refreshment in each of the following ways? (Please select one option in each row):						
		Yes	No	Don't know			
А	Determining that premises in certain areas are exempt.						
В	Determining that certain premises types are exempt in their local area.						
Consu	Itation Question 28:						
	agree that motorway service a			emption from			
		Yes	No	Don't know			
А	Motorway service areas should receive a nationally prescribed exemption from regulations for the provision of late night refreshment.						
Consultation Question 29: Please describe in the box below any other types of premises to which you think a nationally prescribed exemption should apply (keeping your views to a maximum of 100 words):							

Further proposals to reduce burdens on business

- 9.21 At present, those applying for new licences and club premises certificates or making full licence variations must advertise their applications in a local newspaper or circular. We propose to remove this requirement. The way people consume news locally is changing, both in its frequency and form. Local residents have opportunities to learn about applications online or by notices on the premises themselves.
- 9.22 The Government is also considering deregulating more widely elements of the ban on alcohol sales that applies to motorway service areas (MSAs). Licensing legislation and current Government guidance results in a general prohibition of the sale of alcohol at MSAs. One option is to lift this centrally imposed restriction and make on-sales and off-trade sales (see glossary) of alcohol at MSAs a matter for licensing authorities to determine locally, in the same manner as any other application for a licence. There is a separate question as to whether lodges and other overnight accommodation at MSAs should be able to serve alcohol to residents. These proposals must be balanced against strong messages against drink-driving.
- 9.23 Finally, under the 2003 Act, each sale of alcohol under a premises licence must be made under the authority of a personal licence holder. All personal licences must be renewed after a ten-year period to be valid. This consultation invites views on whether this requirement should be removed or simplified to reduce the burden on responsible businesses. The onus would continue to be on personal licence holders to ensure their licences are up-to-date in terms of personal details and photograph and to declare them on conviction for any relevant criminal offences, as well as to declare such convictions to their licensing authority. There are various existing criminal offences covering failure to make these declarations and the police already have powers to check personal licences. Sentencing guidelines also make reference to the courts' powers to order forfeit of a personal licence if a personal licence holder is convicted of a relevant criminal offence.
- 9.24 Finally, we continue to welcome views on additional or alternative proposals for reducing burdens on responsible businesses. The consultation therefore also provides the opportunity for interested parties to propose further ways in which other sections of or processes under the 2003 Act could be removed or simplified.

Consu	Itation Question 30:							
Do you	Do you agree with each of the following proposals? (Please select one option in each row):							
		Yes	No	Don't know				
А	Remove requirements to advertise licensing applications in local newspapers.							
В	Remove the centrally imposed prohibition on the sale of alcohol at MSAs for the on and off-trade.							
С	Remove the centrally imposed prohibition on the sale of alcohol at MSAs but only in respect of overnight accommodation – "lodges".							
D	Remove or simplify requirements to renew personal licences under the 2003 Act.							
Do you	Itation Question 31: think that each of the followin n each row):	g would reduce the ove	erall burdens on busines	ss? (Please select one				
		Yes	No	Don't know				
А	Remove requirements to advertise licensing applications in local newspapers.							
В	Remove the centrally imposed prohibition on the sale of alcohol at MSAs for the on and off-trade.							
С	Remove the centrally imposed prohibition on the sale of alcohol at MSAs but only in respect of overnight accommodation – "lodges".							
D	Remove or simplify requirements to renew personal licences under the 2003 Act.							

Consu	Itation Question 32:						
	think that the following measures (see glossary)? (Please sele			the licensing			
		Yes	No	Don't know			
А	Remove requirements to advertise licensing applications in local newspapers.						
В	Remove the centrally imposed prohibition on the sale of alcohol at MSAs for the on and off-trade.						
С	Remove the centrally imposed prohibition on the sale of alcohol at MSAs but only in respect of overnight accommodation – "lodges".						
D	Remove or simplify requirements to renew personal licences under the 2003 Act.						
Consultation Question 33: In addition to the suggestions outlined above, what other sections of or processes under the 2003 Act could in your view be removed or simplified in order to impact favourably on businesses without undermining the statutory licensing objectives or significantly increasing burdens on licensing authorities? (Please specify in the box below keeping your views to a maximum of 200 words):							

10. Impact assessments

10.1 Impact assessments for the proposals in this consultation have been published alongside this document. Consultation respondents are encouraged to comment on these documents.

Consultation Question 34:									
	Do you think that the Impact Assessments related to the consultation provide an accurate representation of the costs and benefits of the proposals? (Please select one option in each row):								
		Yes	No	Don't know					
А	Minimum unit pricing.								
В	Multi-buy promotions.								
С	Health as a licensing objective for cumulative impact.								
D	Ancillary sales of alcohol.								
Е	Temporary Event Notices.								
F	Late night refreshment.								
G	Removing the duty to advertise licence applications in a local newspaper.								
Н	Sales of alcohol at motorway service stations.								
I	Personal licences.								

Consultation Question 35:			
Do you have any comments on t please detail them, referencing c	the methodologies or assumptions clearly the impact assessment and	ons used in the impact assessments? If and page to which you refer.	so,
Yes	No	☐ Don't Know	
If yes, please specify in the box belickeeping your views to a maximum		assessment and page to which you refer	

11. List of questions

Consultation Question 1:

Do you agree that this MUP level would achieve these aims?

Consultation Question 2:

Should other factors or evidence be considered when setting a minimum unit price for alcohol?

Consultation Question 3:

How do you think the level of minimum unit price set by the Government should be adjusted over time?

Consultation Question 4:

The aim of minimum unit pricing is to reduce the consumption of harmful²⁵ and hazardous²⁶ drinkers, while minimising the impact on responsible²⁷ drinkers. Do you think that there are any other people, organisations or groups that could be particularly affected by a minimum unit price for alcohol?

Consultation Question 5:

Do you think there should be a ban on multi-buy promotions involving alcohol in the off-trade?

Consultation Question 6:

Are there any further offers which should be included in a ban on multi-buy promotions?

Consultation Question 7:

Should other factors or evidence be considered when considering a ban on multi-buy promotions?

²⁵ Harmful drinking is defined as when a person regularly drinks more than double the weekly equivalent of the NHS daily guidelines, that is more than 50 units weekly for men or more than 35 units weekly for women.

²⁶ Hazardous drinking is defined as when a person regularly drinks over the NHS daily guidelines (equivalent to 21 units weekly for men and 14 units weekly for women), but less than double the guidelines.

²⁷ Responsible (or moderate) drinkers are those who do not regularly exceed the daily guidelines (men should not regularly drink more than three to four units of alcohol per day and women should not regularly drink more than two to three units per day).

Consultation Question 8:

The aim of a ban on multi-buy promotions is to stop promotions that encourage people to buy more than they otherwise would, helping people to be aware of how much they drink, and to tackle irresponsible alcohol sales. Do you think that there are any other groups that could be particularly affected by a ban on multi-buy promotions?

Consultation Question 9:

Do you think each of the mandatory licensing conditions is effective in promoting the licensing objectives (crime prevention / public safety / public nuisance / prevention of harm to children)?

Consultation Question 10:

Do you think that the mandatory licensing conditions do enough to target irresponsible promotions in pubs and clubs?

Consultation Question 11:

Are there other issues related to the licensing objectives (prevention of crime and disorder / public safety / prevention of public nuisance / protection of children from harm) which could be tackled through a mandatory licensing condition?

Consultation Question 12:

Do you think the current approach, with five mandatory licensing conditions applying to the on-trade and only one of those to the off-trade, is appropriate?

Consultation Question 13:

What sources of evidence on alcohol-related health harm could be used to support the introduction of a cumulative impact policy (CIP) if it were possible for a CIP to include consideration of health?

Consultation Question 14:

Do you think any aspects of the current cumulative impact policy process would need to be amended to allow consideration of data on alcohol-related health harms?

Consultation Question 15:

What impact do you think allowing consideration of data on alcohol-related health harms when introducing a cumulative impact policy would have if it were used in your local area? Please provide evidence to support your response.

Consultation Question 16:

Should special provision to reduce the burdens on ancillary sellers be limited to specific types of business, and/or be available to all types of business providing they met key criteria for limited or incidental sales?

Consultation Question 17:

If special provision to reduce licensing burdens on ancillary sellers were to include a list of certain types of premises, do you think it should apply to the following?

Consultation Question 18:

Do you have any suggestions for other types of businesses to which such special provision could apply without impacting adversely on one or more of the licensing objectives?

Consultation Question 19:

The aim of a new 'ancillary seller' status is to reduce burdens on businesses where the sale of alcohol is only a small part of their business and occurs alongside the provision of a wider product or service, while minimising loopholes for irresponsible businesses and maintaining the effectiveness of enforcement (see paragraphs 9.2 and 9.3). Do you think that the qualification criteria proposed in paragraph 9.6 meet this aim?

Consultation Question 20:

Do you think that these proposals would significantly reduce the burdens on ancillary sellers?

Consultation Question 21:

Do you think that the following proposals would impact adversely on one or more of the licensing objectives?

Consultation Question 22:

What other issues or options do you think should be considered when taking forward proposals for a lighter touch authorisation?

Consultation Question 23:

Do you agree that licensing authorities should have the power to allow organisers of community events involving licensable activities to notify them through a locally determined notification process?

Consultation Question 24:

What impact do you think a locally determined notification would have on organisers of community events?

Consultation Question 25:

Should the number of TENs which can be given in respect of individual premises be increased?

Consultation Question 26:

If yes, please indicate which option you would prefer:

Consultation Question 27:

Do you think that licensing authorities should have local discretion around late night refreshment in each of the following ways?

Consultation Question 28:

Do you agree that motorway service areas should receive a nationally prescribed exemption from regulations for the provision of late night refreshment?

Consultation Question 29:

Please describe any other types of premises to which you think a nationally prescribed exemption should apply.

Consultation Question 30:

Do you agree with each of the following proposals?

Consultation Question 31:

Do you think that each of the following would reduce the overall burdens on business?

Consultation Question 32:

Do you think that the following measures would impact adversely on one or more of the licensing objectives?

Consultation Question 33:

In addition to the suggestions outlined above, what other sections of or processes under the 2003 Act could in your view be removed or simplified in order to impact favourably on businesses without undermining the statutory licensing objectives or significantly increasing burdens on licensing authorities?

Consultation Question 34:

Do you think that the Impact Assessments related to the consultation provide an accurate representation of the costs and benefits of the proposals?

Consultation Question 35:

Do you have any comments on the methodologies or assumptions used in the impact assessments? If so please detail them, referencing clearly the impact assessment and page to which you refer.

12. Glossary

Alcohol guidelines	Harmful drinking is defined as when a person regularly drinks more than double the weekly equivalent of the NHS daily guidelines, that is more than 50 units weekly for men or more than 35 units weekly for women. Hazardous drinking is defined as when a person regularly drinks over the NHS daily guidelines (equivalent to 21 units weekly for men and 14 units weekly for women), but less than double the guidelines. Moderate drinkers are those who do not regularly exceed the daily guidelines (men should not regularly drink more than three to four units of alcohol per day and women should not regularly drink more than two to three units per day).
'Ancillary sellers'	Those businesses for which the sale of alcohol is only a small part of, or incidental to, their wider activities, and occurs alongside the provision of another product or service. This consultation invites views on how 'ancillary sellers' could be defined.
Ancillary Sales Notice (ASN)	One of two options proposed in this consultation to reduce some licensing burdens on 'ancillary sellers'. An ASN would be an authorisation available to those with ancillary seller status and would remove the need for a premises licence at those premises. Obtaining an ASN would be quicker, simpler and cheaper than a premises licence, and could potentially work in a similar way to a TEN.
Annual fee	Holders of premises licences and club premises certificates under the 2003 Act must pay an annual fee on the anniversary of its grant.
Club premises certificates	Under the 2003 Act, private 'members' clubs require authorisation to use club premises for qualifying club activities, including the supply or sale of alcohol.
Cumulative impact policy (CIP)	CIPs are a mechanism set out in the statutory guidance issued under the 2003 Act by which licensing authorities can take into account the potential impact on the statutory licensing objectives of a significant number of licensed premises concentrated in one area.
Designated premises supervisor (DPS)	Under the 2003 Act, licensed premises that authorise the sale of alcohol must, in most cases, have a DPS specified in the licence. Only someone who holds a personal licence can be a DPS.
Early Morning Alcohol Restriction Order (EMRO)	Licensing authorities are able to apply an order to prevent the sale of alcohol (at a time between midnight and 6am) in all or part of their area if they consider that it is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.
EU Services Directive	Transposed into UK legislation by the Provision of Services Regulations 2009, the directive sets out how the internal market in relevant services should operate. The aim is to help open up the internal market in services across the EU, increasing employment opportunities and trade.
The Government's Alcohol Strategy (the 'Strategy')	Published on 23 March 2012, the Strategy sets out how to tackle the problems caused by people drinking to excess.
Harmful drinking	Harmful drinking is defined as when a person regularly drinks more than double the weekly equivalent of the NHS daily guidelines, that is more than 50 units weekly for men or more than 35 units weekly for women.
Hazardous drinking	Hazardous drinking is defined as when a person regularly drinks over the NHS daily guidelines (equivalent to 21 units weekly for men and 14 units weekly for women), but less than double the guidelines.
Late night refreshment (LNR)	Under the 2003 Act, LNR means the provision of hot food or hot drink to the public, for consumption on or off the premises, between 11.00 pm and 5.00 am. Page 61

Page 61

Licensing Act 2003 (the '2003 Act')	The 2003 Act established a single, integrated scheme for licensing premises which are used for the sale or supply of alcohol, the provision of regulated entertainment, or the provision of LNR.
Licensing authorities	Licensing authorities are defined in the 2003 Act. They are primarily district councils or unitary authorities in England and county boroughs in Wales. Licensing authorities issue and administer premises licences, club premises certificates and temporary event notices in their area, as well as, for example, personal licences and renewals of personal licences.
The licensing objectives	Under the 2003 Act, licensing authorities have a duty to carry out their functions under the Act with a view to promoting the licensing objectives. These are: • the prevention of crime and disorder; • public safety; • the prevention of public nuisance; and • the protection of children from harm.
Mandatory code	See Mandatory licensing conditions
Mandatory licensing condition	The additional mandatory licensing conditions set out in regulations under Section 19A of the 2003 Act are sometimes referred to as the Mandatory Code. The Secretary of State can prescribe up to nine additional mandatory licensing conditions in regulations. A list of the current mandatory licensing conditions under s.19A can be found on page 21.
Moderate drinking	Moderate drinkers are those who do not regularly exceed the daily guidelines (men should not regularly drink more than three to four units of alcohol per day and women should not regularly drink more than two to three units per day).
On-trade	Premises that are authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises, such as restaurants, bars and pubs.
Off-trade	Premises that are authorised to sell alcohol for consumption off the premises only, such as shops and off-licences.
Personal licence	Under the 2003 Act, each sale of alcohol under a premises licence must, with some exceptions, be made under the authority of a personal licence holder. A personal licence does not need to be associated with a particular premises, and a person can apply for a personal licence if they are not currently employed at a licensed premises.
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (the '2011 Act')	The 2011 Act rebalanced the 2003 Act, giving more powers to local communities to tackle problems in their area.
Recommended alcohol limits	The National Health Service recommends that men should not regularly drink more than three to four units of alcohol per day, and that women should not regularly drink more than two to three units per day. After a heavy drinking session, the NHS recommends avoiding alcohol for
	48 hours.
Red Tape Challenge	An ongoing Government initiative to encourage members of the public to recommend regulations that should be scrapped, simplified or retained. Regulations are put forward every few weeks on a thematic basis.
Responsible drinking	The National Health Service defines responsible drinking as when a person consumes alcohol within the recommended limits.

Temporary Event Notice (TEN)	Under the 2003 Act, a TEN enables the issuer to undertake licensable activities (including selling alcohol) on an occasional basis without any other authorisation. The TEN must be issued to the licensing authority, the police, and the environmental health authority (EHA). The police or the EHA can object on grounds related to any of the licensing objectives. There are limits on the number of TENs a person or premises may give each year. It is an offence to carry out a licensable activity without an appropriate authorisation.
Unit of alcohol	A unit of alcohol is defined as 10ml by volume, or 8g by weight, of pure alcohol (ethanol). The number of units in a particular alcohol product will therefore depend on the volume of that product and its alcoholic strength (alcohol by volume or abv).

PHASE 1 – CCTV Consolidation and 1st stage needs EFDC CCTV Delivery Plan

System audit and database development Identify & collate all EFDC owned and supported CCTV schemes across the district.	Retrieve & collate all existing CCTV documentation from the various service areas, existing champions & incorporate this into a central database. Visit all CCTV locations & identify system manufacturers, models, camera types and quantities Systematically review & record all current & lapsed maintenance contracts, suppliers, systems plans & drawing where available. Risk assess all systems	Those currently responsible for individual CCTV systems	EXISTING	12 months or less	Task complete Database & mapping system completed March 2009 Service maintenance needs identified and progressed Procurement used to identify Maintenance Contractor Initial annual contract commenced in October 2009 with option to extend for one year. New contractor identified via procurement process October 2011 2 year contract awarded. CCTV identified at Waltham Abbey Museum.DVR upgraded – November 2011. Camera replaced – November 2011. Now part of our maintenance programme.
Consolidate all CCTV budgets CO Ti@introduction of a centralised CCTV budget over seen by E&SS	Deliver initial & ongoing communication to all EFDC Directorates who previously had responsibility for CCTV systems, outlining the new CCTV role, its vision & expectations in a bid to consolidate CCTV funding allocated to existing services	Budget holders Finance dept Partnership funds	EXISTING	24 months or less	Task complete Target deadline actions Clearly defined objectives Funds transferred from all current CCTV budget holders within the time constraints set out Careline Maintenance costs to be added October 2010 Review of CCTV Officer's time spent on Housing Directorate projects ongoing Careline – Jubilee Court & Frank Bretton House are now online. All Careline sites now under our maintenance programme. Job Codes allocated to all sites to allow easy identification of expenditure across Directorates December 2012

HOW	WHO	RESOURCES	WHEN	MONITORING MILESTONES & SUCCESSES
Carry out complete review of all existing procedures Introduction of new CCTV data requesting forms and procedures Deliver training package for all EFDC staff that have CCTV responsibilities. Staff development training Deliver guidelines to external partners such as Essex Police on procedures for requesting of EFDC CCTV video images & stills Indentify those personnel who require SIA licences to use EFDC CCTV Create & introduce spend plan spreadsheets for CCTV	Security Industry Authority (SIA) Service directorates and managers Legal Services ICT Partners & stakeholders	EXISTING	24 months or less	Tasks completed Spot checks and audits ongoing Staff refresher training Use of Various Performance Indicators (PI's) to determine success rates Procedures for CCTV image requests are now in place Process flow chart established for CCTV requests and delivered Staff development and training is ongoing and in some areas completed Spend plan spreadsheets up & running RAM tool developed Clear audit trail established for continuity of evidence chain
In conjunction with Essex Police, the ICO and National CCTV Strategy Research best practice, based on National CCTV Code of Practice (public document)	Adrian Petty CCTV Operations Officer Legal Services Essex Police	EXISTING	Sept 2009	Task complete Code of Practice developed Independent auditing To be reviewed on a regular basis Code of practice completed September 2009 Safer Cleaner Greener Scrutiny Panel February 2010 Awaiting New Code of Practice from the Home Office due April 2013
Review existing maintenance provision. Introduce new maintenance contract Tender process set up for CCTV contractors identifying EFDC/Partnership needs and specifications of product 5 stage process: Working with Essex HUB 1. Prepare contract draft 2. Invite to tender 3. Tender received 4. Decision	Essex Hub Safer Communities Team Finance Dept	EXISTING	October 2009	Short term contracts initially in order to evaluate performance and delivery of service Currently working on a new maintenance contract template with various levels of service. Completed 2009/10 Contractor appointed One year extension on current maintenance contract commencing October 2010. Current CCTV contractors and suppliers to be enrolled into the HUB scheme – Completed September 2011 to review existing maintenance contract and to use procurement to identify longer term contract 2012 onwards
	Carry out complete review of all existing procedures Introduction of new CCTV data requesting forms and procedures Deliver training package for all EFDC staff that have CCTV responsibilities. Staff development training Deliver guidelines to external partners such as Essex Police on procedures for requesting of EFDC CCTV video images & stills Indentify those personnel who require SIA licences to use EFDC CCTV Create & introduce spend plan spreadsheets for CCTV In conjunction with Essex Police, the ICO and National CCTV Strategy Research best practice, based on National CCTV Code of Practice (public document) Review existing maintenance provision. Introduce new maintenance contract Tender process set up for CCTV contractors identifying EFDC/Partnership needs and specifications of product 5 stage process: Working with Essex HUB 1. Prepare contract draft 2. Invite to tender 3. Tender received	Carry out complete review of all existing procedures Introduction of new CCTV data requesting forms and procedures Deliver training package for all EFDC staff that have CCTV responsibilities. Staff development training Deliver guidelines to external partners such as Essex Police on procedures for requesting of EFDC CCTV video images & stills Indentify those personnel who require SIA licences to use EFDC CCTV Create & introduce spend plan spreadsheets for CCTV In conjunction with Essex Police, the ICO and National CCTV Strategy Research best practice, based on National CCTV Code of Practice (public document) Review existing maintenance contract Tender process set up for CCTV contractors identifying EFDC/Partnership needs and specifications of product 5 stage process: Working with Essex HUB 1. Prepare contract draft 2. Invite to tender 3. Tender received	Carry out complete review of all existing procedures Introduction of new CCTV data requesting forms and procedures Deliver training package for all EFDC staff that have CCTV responsibilities. Staff development training Deliver guidelines to external partners such as Essex Police on procedures for requesting of EFDC CCTV video images & stills Indentify those personnel who require SIA licences to use EFDC CCTV Create & introduce spend plan spreadsheets for CCTV In conjunction with Essex Police, the ICO and National CCTV Strategy Research best practice, based on National CCTV Code of Practice (public document) Review existing maintenance provision. Introduce new maintenance contract Tender process set up for CCTV contractors identifying EFDC/Partnership needs and specifications of product 5 stage process: Working with Essex HUB 1. Prepare contract draft 2. Invite to tender 3. Tender received	Carry out complete review of all existing procedures Introduction of new CCTV data requesting forms and procedures Deliver training package for all EFDC staff that have CCTV responsibilities. Staff development training Deliver training Deliver training package for all EFDC carry video images & staff development training Deliver guidelines to external partners such as Essex Police on procedures for requesting of EFDC CCTV video images & stallis Indentify those personnel who require SIA licences to use EFDC CCTV Create & introduce spend plan spreadsheets for CCTV In conjunction with Essex Police, the ICO and National CCTV School of Practice (public document) Research best practice, based on National CCTV Code of Practice (public document) Review existing maintenance contract Tender process set up for CCTV contractors identifying EFDC/Partnership needs and specifications of product 5 stage process: Working with Essex HUB 1. Prepare contract draft 2. Invite to tender 3. Tender received Security Industry Authority (SIA) Service directorates and managers Legal Services ICT Partners & stakeholders EXISTING EXISTING Sept 2009 EXISTING October 2009 October 2009

TASK	ном	WHO	RESOURCES	WHEN	MONITORING MILESTONES & SUCCESSES
			T	1	
					with option for a third.
					Focus group
					Regular partnership working
					Staff Feedback
Partnership working	Communications though various mediums such as:	All partnerships where CCTV plays a factor	EXISTING	24 months or less	CCTV Monthly status report set up and running since November 2008 – DELIVERED
		. ,			Essex CCTV user Group set up and running since March 2009
	The introduction of a CCTV quarterly operational status	Training groups and Facilitators			CCTV Mobile Partnership Vehicle training July 2009
	reports for the entire districts				National CCTV user group membership joined February 2009
	CCTV CCTV Presentation workshops				District Police to have EFDC CCTV presentations providing
	with partners, Councillors and				capability and service information
	other agencies where appropriate				Working with local town councils providing the expertise and knowledge
					to ensure they run compliant CCTV systems
					Working with local businesses in the night time economy providing
T					advice on running effective and compliant CCTV
a					Consultation around new system installed in Epping High Street &
Page					Debden included meetings with Town Centre Partnerships, Town
67					Councils, Debden Residents Association, EFDC Housing.
7					Meeting with Loughton Town Council January 2013 to consult on the
					refurbishment of Loughton High Street CCTV system
					Recognised Qualifications (e.g. BTEC level accreditation) PDP Reviews Fully trained members of staff/qualifications Progress to date
Staff development	Continued development of key	Service Managers	Additional funding	24 months –	BTEC Foundations of CCTV
·	staff within the Safer	Trainee/s	required	ongoing	BTEC Gathering Video Evidence
	Communities team and as appropriate with EFDC	HR Dept			Training on VuePrint system with Clear View Communications
					RIPA update course
					5. CCTV Legislation
					6. CCTV System Planning
					7. BTEC Covert CCTV
					8. CCTV Consultancy

TASK	HOW	WHO	RESOURCES	WHEN	MONITORING
					MILESTONES & SUCCESSES

PHASE 2 – CCTV Enhancement, development and integration

		_			
Continuous in ovement to CCTV intestructure through development	Regular reviews of existing product capability Upgrade and integrate systems across the district as applicable Introduce new systems as part of growth and to meet new objectives Identify shortfalls and weakness and where necessary make appropriate decisions for change	CCTV contractors. Product suppliers. Project managers ICT department to support and engage with Safer communities for the effective integration of new CCTV products and capability. Partnership agencies and stakeholders	EXISTING	36 months	On time delivery of new projects. Minimal impact and disruption to service. Seamless integration 1. Integration of Buckhurst Hill CCTV sites completed by Autumn 2009 2. Enhancement of Upshire & Roundhills sites completed May 2009. 3. New CCTV schemes in Bobbingworth and Bakers Lane car park area completed January 2010 4. Pyrles Lane upgraded completed by September 2010 and Norway House completed 2009 5. Refurbishment of Norway House completed December 2012 6. Remote access capability to be introduced starting with key locations inc Buckhurst Hill, Loughton High Road, Bobbingworth completed. 7. 10 Careline sites to be added by the end of 2010 (roll out delayed to issues Housing & IT) one site now running Hedges Close 8. Roundhill Equipment moved to secure EFDC area allowing 24 hour access completed June 2011 & 3 extra cameras. 9. Wheelie Bin Compound North Weald Airfield. New camera system complete June 2011. 10. Debden Regeneration project planning for new expanded system using wireless technology going out to Procurement Nov 2011. 11. Epping High Street – 2 new camera columns funded by Epping Forest CSP in the vicinity of the High Street – Contractor appointed awaiting third party electrical installation. November 2011 Third column at Station Road and new cameras in Cottis Lane completed December 2012. 12. ANPR Camera – North Weald Airfield completed August 2011. 13. Limes Farm community Hall new CCTV camera system completed 2012. 14. Cottis Lane/Bakers Lane car parks upgrade cameras increased from 4 – 8 including number plate and identification camera at entrance completed March 2011 15. Waltham Abbey Museum replacement DVR & Infra-red camera. North Weald shop column for (Basset Shops) re-deployable camera column installed.
					Set up working action group with IT dept's appointed suppliers, and other key services and relevant partners.

TASK	ном	WHO	RESOURCES	WHEN	MONITORING MILESTONES & SUCCESSES
Remote Access Capability	Carryout feasibility studies Investigate suitable products to meet need through expertise of supplier and ICT Implement trials & demonstration periods where possible	ICT services Contractors/suppliers Safer communities dept Essex Police Budget Constraints	Initial Set up costs £2070 Ongoing costs £800.0 per site	60 months	Project and equipment performance studies in conjunction with suppliers and ICT Feasibility study completed – April 2009 ICT support ongoing Working group established Remote access solutions identified – May 2009 Stand Alone hardware and software purchased – by end of 2009 Broadband and Bearer lines package identified May 2009 Remote access capability to at least 3 sites not including existing Limes
Page 69					Farm estate by Dec 2009 Pilot schemes set up in designated areas Current pilot running in Jessops Court August 2010 – pilot completed January 2011. Record results though audit trails Identify best way forward Reduction of labour costs
					Equipment downtimes reduced Improved security of system
The introduction of 'Digital Only' CCTV systems across the district	Identify older generation tape systems in use (Part of Phase 1 process) Replace all tape recording systems with digital systems	ICT services Budget constraints Staffing resources Partners, suppliers and manufacturers	EXISTING	36 months	Improved Data Security Improved quality of images will increase success rates when using images for evidential purposes Allows for remote access monitoring provides greater flexibility in monitoring and reduces labour costs when image retrieval is required. Meeting new digital parameters for CCTV such as frame resolution, frame rates, storage formats, audit trails, export efficiency and methods and download player software capability.

Pa	
ge	
70	

TASK	нош	WHO	RESOURCES	WHEN	MONITORING MILESTONES & SUCCESSES
					Replace SVHS system in SCP CCTV mobile unit. 2009 completed Langston Road depot digital switch – completed. Integrate Careline sites across the district end of 2010 digital switch over North Weald Airfield replacement DVR completed in September 2010 Debden CCTV Regeneration project will include removal of final SVHS recording equipment March 2012.

Minutes of Green Infrastructure Meeting Agenda Item 8 Held 21st June 2012 at 11.00am in LM's Office

Present: George Haley Phil Hawkins Chris Neilan Kevin Mason

Laura MacNeill (chair)

Copies: John Preston Jim Nolan

1. Apologies for Absence – Sue Stranders Robin Hellier Melinda Barham Abigail Oldham

Janet Anderton

2. Terms of Reference Reviewed

Changes to T of R reviewed and agreed

3. Minutes of last meeting 25th January 2012

Agreed.

4. Matters Arising

TPO Maps

Mapinfo system used by planning to plot/update TPO info does not link with ESS mapping and has left it outdated. Rob P agreed to manually update ESS mapping providing Planning are able to supply the relevant information. CN agreed to add this additional step into their TPO administrative process.

CN/RP

5. Roding Valley

Roding Lake Update

PH gave update. 20 Lilly-sets were planted in the spring. Two aeration units have been installed on the lake islands to improve water quality and are working well. The EA have agreed to provide an additional £10,000 for 2012/13 to undertake additional improvement works including, the installation of further fishing platforms/swims.

Charlie Moules Bridge

PH reported that; following reports from L/ton TC identifying minor damage on the bridge, a provisional inspection by ESS Land Drainage inspectors was carried out. It was recommended a 'professional' survey of the bridge would be required in order to determine its current condition, identify & cost any remedial works and advise on future maintenance. PH to speak to LM for update.

PH/LM

Roding Valley Rec and Nature Reserve

KM reported that the 'Invisible' fencing was not installed due to the high cost and that temporary fencing has been used instead. KM advised that the bylaw signs previously installed on the reserve had been vandalised beyond repair and subsequently removed. PH requested costing for replacement signs be obtained. KM reported that the current bylaws may need updating and was advised to contact Legal Services for guidance.

KM

Causeway

Further to completion of ground reinstatement works undertaken by Land Drainage, Grounds Maintenance have installed 3 bollards at each end of the causeway to prevent vehicles accessing/damaging the site (emergency access can still be obtained via the centre dropbollards)

Fishing Club

PH reported that a 1-year lease to manage fishing on the lake had been signed by Roding Valley Angling Club. Quarterly meetings with the club have been scheduled in order to review the success of the new 'partnership'.

РΗ

Nature Reserve

KM reported that LTC's proposal for a skateboard park on the reserve had been rejected by EFDC and Natural England. Natural England were concerned that giving approval may set a precedent for further installations of this type on other nature reserves.

Page 71

6. Grange Farm

The pavilion is now 'official' open. The green areas are being managed by Grange Farm Trust at present.

7. Open Spaces and LNRs

Norton Heath

EFDC Legal have been asked to contact Land Registry to try and determine land-ownership. In the meantime, the plan to obtain Local Nature Reserve status for the site has been put on hold. CC agreed to work closely with the Parish Council/residents regarding future works.

Englands Lane

GH reported no significant problems at site and that previous issues with fly-tipping seemed to have subsided following works to clarify boundary fence-lines. KM reported some vandalism of dog-waste bins and also signage. CC had dealt with some tree damage resulting from recent high winds.

Chigwell Row Rec

New Management Plan completed. Woodland grant applied for and awaiting decision. GH reported that Jim Curry had completed phase 2 of tree management programme and that plans and funding were in place to allow Phase 3 to go ahead next year. KM advised that Land Drainage are investigating a possible water pipe break at the woodland edge. If this is not found to be the reason for the flooding, CC have suggested this 'wet area' could be made into a wildlife pond. KM reported that CC had cleared some tree spoil resulting form recent storm damage and that a kissing-gate had been broken as a result of a fallen tree. GH offered his help to organise any major remedial works identified.

GHKM

PH gave update on Parish Council's proposed installation of the green-gym. LM had sent a letter to the PC clarifying the Council's position on the matter specifically, that it would be unable to fund the ongoing maintenance required.

Ongar Open Space

The Council had still not taken over the site and it remains with the developers until the issue of the storm tank maintenance/responsibility is resolved. LM reported that this issue was being dealt with by EFDC Legal Services.

LM

Arboretum

GH gave an update on the 5-year development plan. Winter pruning had done much to improve the appearance of the site by 'opening it up' for visitors. Wildflower mixes were being trailed along the ditch-lines.

GH

8. Drainage

PH & JA to have meeting with Land drainage to indentify forthcoming works and review allocated budgets. BM still to report back regarding condition of Roding Valley ditches at Buckhurst Hill end – PH to chase

PH

Nazeing Triangle

It has now been clarified that the land is in ownership of the local PC although CC will continue to manage the area on their behalf.

9. The Biodiversity Action Plan

Still awaiting completion of Essex plan – CC and Wildlife Trust will update existing EFDC plan. KM reported that CC and a number of volunteers had begun collecting relevant information for the plan, starting in Epping.

10. Section 106 Agreements

<u>Lidl Superstore</u> – CN/GH reported £1,900 for additional tree planting/maintenance was now in a holding account with Legal, and that we were awaiting suggested planting sites from WATC. Sites would be reviewed by Planning and ESS officers.

CN

11. General Plans

Local Plan

CN

CN reported that there had unfortunately, been minimal progress on this as the Green Infrastructure project had been temporarily 'put on hold'. CN to update at next meeting

12. Tree Warden

Kevin Mason is now the TW Co-ordinater. He has looked at Horse Chestnut Conker Tree Science Project which he is launching with schools. Of 19 trees affected those which had close cut grass did much better than those that were not. This is thought to be because leaves are cleared.

B/Hill Horse Chestnuts - The project to go through summer.

Next tree warden meeting is next September. KM wants to contact Parishes to increase number of tree wardens.

13. Tree Strategy

This was done as a PDF then corrected as a word document and now has to be changed back to PDF. To be done before published.

14. AOB

Owners took down trees in Theydon Bois. One Oakhead, a TPO put on Tree then tree barked by somebody. CN seeking view whether as to whether it can be saved. CN needs to get details of what happened.

- **Petition** Limes Farm petition gone to housing for action
- Tree Design Action Group Document being published. Look out for document perhaps discuss at next meeting. May give political backing to projects.

LM

- Draft SLA published what was the final outcome? LM to send copy of response to Chris.
- ENT Biological Data in Essex to be put onto pro-printer by GIS Officer.
- District has won two living landscape awards for Wildlife Trust, Lindersfield and North Weald Common.

Date of next meeting: 5th December 2012 at Langston Road

This page is intentionally left blank

TERMS OF REFERENCE - STANDING PANEL

Title: Safer, Cleaner, Greener

Status: Standing Panel

Terms of Reference:

1. To approve and keep under review the "Safer, Cleaner, Greener" initiative development programme.

(Note: this development programme will encompass the three main issues and will therefore include matters such as:

- (i) environmental enforcement activity
- (ii) safer communities activities
- (iii) waste management activities (in addition to WMPB information))
- 2. To keep under review the activity and decisions of the Waste Partnership Member Board and the Inter Authority Member Working Group.
- 3. To receive reports from the Waste Management Partnership Board in respect of the operation of and performance of the waste management contract
- 4. To monitor and keep under review the Nottingham Declaration "action plan" and the Council's progress towards the preparation and adoption of a sustainability policy and to receive progress reports on the Council's Climate Change Strategy from the Green Working Group
- 5. (Subject to Cabinet approval of the Group) to receive and review the reports of the Bobbingworth Nature Reserve (former Landfill site) Liaison Group.
- 6. To act as the Council's Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee and to keep under review the activities of the Epping Forest Safer Communities Partnership as a whole or any of the individual partners which make up the partnership.
 (a)That at least two meeting a year be dedicated as Community Safety Committee meetings.
- 7. To monitor and review the new Local Highways Panel.

Chairman: Cllr. Lea

This page is intentionally left blank

Safer, Cleaner, Greener Standing Panel (Chairman – Cllr Jeanne Lea) Work Programme 2012/13

Item	Report Deadline / Priority	Progress / Comments	Programme of Future Meetings
(1) SCG Strategy enforcement activity	October 2012	Six monthly report to Panel. Report went to October 2012 meeting.	10 July 2012;
(2) SCG Strategy Action Plan approve	April 2013	Annual review of Action Plan	30 October 2012;
(3) SCG Strategy Action Plan review	July 2012	Six monthly report to Panel	08 January 2013;
(4) CCTV action plan review	July 2012	Six monthly report to Panel	12 February 2013;
(5) SCG Strategy Action Plan review	January 2013	Six monthly report to Panel	02 April 2013
(6) CCTV action plan review	January 2013	Six monthly report to Panel	Crime & Disorder Scrutiny meetings –
(7) CSP scrutiny review meetings	April 2013	Report after 2 special Safer Communities meetings	The 2 meeting dates are October
(8) CSP Strategic Assessment review	February 2013	Scheduled for October meeting but due to unavoidable delays in appointing Joint Analyst, data not available for this meeting. Reschedule for February 2013 as part of CSP Scrutiny	2012 and February 2013
(9) Appointment of PCC	February 2013	Report following election of PCC in November 2012 as part of CSP Scrutiny	
(10) Police resources and the Olympic Games	October 2012	Report following completion of Olympic Games is attached to this agenda	
(11) Receive notes of Waste IAA Member meetings	As appropriate	Notes reported to Panel at first available meeting following receipt	

Safer, Cleaner, Greener Standing Panel (Chairman – Cllr Jeanne Lea) Work Programme 2012/13

	Item	Report Deadline / Priority	Progress / Comments	Programme of Future Meetings
(12)	Receive notes of Waste Management Partnership Board	As appropriate	Notes of meeting held on the 3 rd of September 2012 went to October meeting.	
(13)	Progress against Climate Local Agreement	July 2012	Six monthly report to Panel	
(14)	Progress against carbon reduction strategy	July 2012	Six monthly report to Panel	
(15)	Progress against Climate Local Agreement	January 2013	Six monthly report to Panel	
(16)	Progress against carbon reduction strategy	January 2013	Six monthly report to Panel	
(17)	Receive notes of Bobbingworth Nature Reserve liaison group	As appropriate	Notes reported to Panel at first available meeting following receipt	
(18)	Recycling in flats and multi-occ. dwellings	July 2012	Report considered by July meeting	
(19)	Solar panels in Council owned dwellings		Under further consideration pending changes by government to feed-in tariffs	
(20)	Review of EA flood management of River Roding	April 2013	To receive an updating report on the wider implications, once known, of the EA strategy on flood management in the Roding catchment area.	

Safer, Cleaner, Greener Standing Panel (Chairman – Cllr Jeanne Lea) Work Programme 2012/13

Item	Report Deadline / Priority	Progress / Comments	Programme of Future Meetings
(21) Review of waste contract ahead of next procurement	January 2013	To scrutinise how the new SITA contract would be framed for 2014. A procurement exercise for a new contract will need to commence in early 2013.	
(22) Fire & Rescue services	January 2013	Fire and Rescue Services to address the meeting regarding the implications of their budget reductions.	
(23) Monitor Local Highways Panel	As appropriate	Once established to keep a watching brief on the effectiveness of the new Local Highways Panel. Minutes went to the October meeting.	
(24) Review notes of SLM contract monitoring board	As appropriate	Notes reported to Panel at first available meeting following receipt. Minutes went to October meeting.	
(25) Receive notes of North Essex Parking Partnership (NEPP) minutes	As appropriate	Notes reported to Panel at first available meeting following receipt	
(26) Highway accident statistics	January 2013	Approach to ECC Highways to obtain relevant statistics	
(27) Thames Water Utilities Limited	January 2013	Representatives from Thames Water to give a presentation and to discuss the services they provide and the future strategies to deal with repairs, future development and increase in infrastructure	

This page is intentionally left blank